

Master's Degree in Economics and Administration of Arts and Cultural Events

Final Thesis

Investigating the Prevalence of Fraud within the Art Auction Market

Supervisor Andrea Baldin

Assistant supervisor Arianna Vettorel

GraduandHelena Rangel Martins de
Oliveira
892134

Table of Contents

Abstract	4
Chapter 1: Introduction	5
1.1 Background and Rationale	7
1.2 Research Objectives	8
1.3 Significance of the Study	9
Chapter 2: A overview of the Art Auction Market	11
2.1 Price structure: value within the Art Auction Market	13
2.1.1 Authenticity	14
2.1.2 Rarity	14
2.1.3 Historical Importance	15
2.1.4 Medium	16
2.1.5 Condition.	16
2.1.6 Provenance	16
2.1.7 Demand	19
2.2 Art Fraud: Definition, Ramifications and Pertinence.	20
3.1 Understanding Buyers' Perception of Fraud Risk	24
Chapter 3: Perception of Fraud Risk in the Art Auction Market	24
3.2 Sellers' Perception of Fraud Risk	26
3.3 Influence of Fraud Perception on Behavior	31
3.3.1 The crime of art forgery	31
Chapter 4: Current Practices and Regulations to Prevent Art Fraud.	36
4.1 Government Regulations and Their Effectiveness	37
4.1.1 Australia	37
4.1.2 Canada	40
4.1.3 United Kingdom	41
4.2 Auction House Practices to Authenticate Artworks and their efficacy.	43
4.3 Lack of Information and Resources	47
Chapter 5: Case Studies	50
5.1 Joe Simon Whelan vs. The Andy Warhol Foundation	51
5.2 Ponzi Scheme: The Case of Larry Salander	58
5.3 Yves Bouvier vs Dimitri Rybolovlev - Trust within an Artwork Transaction	64
Chapter 6: Conclusion	74
6.1 Analysis of Research Findings	74
6.2 Recommendations for Stakeholders	76
6.3 Final Considerations	78

Appendix	80
Interview with Art Crime Specialist Noah Charney	80
Bibliography	87

Abstract

This study contains an analysis of art fraud investigation within the art auction market. This master thesis aims to understand the impact of art fraud on the market, focusing on a briefing understanding of how the art auction market functions, the consequence of art fraud for both buyers and sellers and governmental regulations about art fraud. Then an interview is conducted with an expert in the field of art crime to gain insights into the challenges and strategies involved in investigating art fraud cases within the auction market. Previous research has shown that the investigation of fraud within the art auction market is a topic that has not been analyzed extensively and this thesis aims to fill the gap by providing a comprehensive analysis of the various aspects related to art fraud investigation. The conclusion of this research is then presented through the synthesis of findings from an extensive literature review and case studies of diverse art fraud cases. Some recommendations for stakeholders in the art auction market and law enforcement agencies are provided to enhance the effectiveness of art fraud investigation and prevention. The study concludes that while art fraud is not considerably influential in impacting an artist's price for a long period, it is still an important issue that needs to be further researched to protect the integrity of the art auction market and preserve cultural heritage.

Key Words: Art Fraud, Authentication, Art Auction Market, Provenance, Art Value.

Chapter 1: Introduction

Art auction houses have played a pivotal role in the art market's history, acting as central players in the exchange of valuable artworks (Heath, 2012). As these institutions expanded and gained prominence, they became essential institutions for both art enthusiasts and collectors, facilitating transactions that still last over centuries, but this expansion and prominence have also unwittingly contributed to the surge in art fraud—a complex phenomenon that has challenged the authenticity and integrity of the art market. It is necessary to understand how the evolution of art auction houses has intersected with the surge of art fraud, highlighting key factors that have contributed to the rise of this crime.

The foundation of auction houses as recognizable institutions dates back to the late 17th century in Europe and this early emergence of auctioneering as a trade can be traced to the coffeehouses of London, where commodities, including artworks, were sold via a public bidding process (Heath, 2012). A crucial moment in the trajectory of art auction houses occurred during the 19th century, marking an era characterized by significant structural and functional changes within auction houses, laying the foundation for their prominence in the art market. The Industrial Revolution, played an important role in shaping the art auction landscape since the rise of the middle class and their newfound affluence generated a burgeoning demand for art, antiques, and collectibles, which raised the search for valuable items, consequently, instigating the need for formalized auction spaces capable of facilitating the sale of prized artworks and artifacts (Heath, 2012). Simultaneously, the vast expansion of the British Empire led to the acquisition of art and cultural treasures from around the world, enriching the supply of goods to be auctioned and this convergence of factors propelled the growth and diversification of auction houses.

The key to their success lies in their ability to adapt to the evolving needs and interests of their buyers (Heath, 2012). Auction houses gradually specialized in various categories, ranging from fine art to rare books, jewelry, furniture, and collectibles, thereby catering to the diverse tastes and preferences of collector with this diversification not only broadening the offerings available at auctions but also heightening the significance of these institutions

as central players in the art market. The introduction of printed auction catalogs was another innovation that reshaped the auction experience during this period with these catalogs providing comprehensive information about the items on offer and reaching a broader audience of potential buyers. This shift marked a crucial step towards the democratization of art auctions, making them more inclusive and opening doors to both seasoned collectors and newcomers to the art world.

These innovations that marked the 19th century, made auctions more inclusive and open to a wider audience, but also had unintended consequences. Art fraudsters, leveraging the democratization of art auctions facilitated by printed catalogs, found new opportunities to deceive buyers by carefully studied these catalogs, they used detailed information to strategize their forgeries and since they possessed descriptions, images, and estimated values, they could craft counterfeit artworks that closely mimicked those listed in the catalogs (Amore, 2015). Buyers, especially those new to the art market, might rely heavily on these catalogs without conducting extensive due diligence and this reliance on catalog information created a vulnerability, as buyers sometimes accepted artworks without thorough scrutiny, assuming that the descriptions were accurate. Consequently, the democratization of art auctions, while enhancing accessibility, inadvertently exposed a wider audience to potential art fraud.

Competitive bidding environments, characteristic of art auctions, further contributed to the rise of art fraud considering that auctioneers cultivate an atmosphere of excitement, encouraging bidding wars that often drove prices far beyond their initial estimates (Heath, 2012). This competitive bidding attracted a diverse array of participants, from experienced collectors to new auction participants, yet this quick and exciting atmosphere sometimes overshadowed the need for meticulous authentication. In the rush to secure artworks, buyers and auction houses sometimes failed to conduct thorough due diligence, inadvertently accepting artworks without rigorous scrutiny. This created an environment that contributed to the infiltration of fraudulently attributed or forged pieces and this intense competition, with its focus on acquiring coveted artworks, sometimes came at the expense of concerns about authenticity.

The globalization of auction houses in the 20th century further transformed the landscape of the art market especially after the expansion of their reach to international markets which brought art to a global audience and broadened its appeal and accessibility. However, this expansion also exposed the art market to new challenges since artworks began to traverse international borders, complicating the process of authentication and provenance research and providing art fraudsters with opportunities to exploit the complexities of global transactions.

1.1 Background and Rationale

The art auction market has become an important part of the global art market, which is expected to be worth \$68 billion by 2024, with a growth rate of at least 3% yearly (Intelligence, n.d.). However, the rise of the art auction market has also led to the prevalence of art fraud. Art fraud refers to the misrepresentation, authenticity, or provenance of artwork, and can have significant ramifications for both buyers and sellers. Despite several measures being taken to prevent fraud, it still remains a serious problem in the art auction market. It can hurt individuals financially, damage the reputation of the art market, and have broader socioeconomic implications (Cheong, 2021).

The topic of art fraud has been extensively researched in recent years, with scholars and experts attempting to understand the causes, consequences, and prevalence of this phenomenon (Polk & Chappell, 2019). Nonetheless, there are still significant gaps in our understanding of art fraud, especially in terms of its impact on the market, the effectiveness of current regulatory measures to combat it, and public perception of this crime.

Therefore, investigating the prevalence of fraud in art auctions is important for several reasons. First, it can provide insights into the extent of the problem and why it persists. Second, it can help to identify potential managerial and scientific solutions to prevent or reduce art fraud. Finally, it contributes to a greater understanding of the functioning,

regulation, and governance of the art market. This study aims to investigate the prevalence of art fraud in the art auction market, with a view to increasing our understanding of this phenomenon and contributing to its prevention and mitigation.

1.2 Research Objectives

The first research objective of this study is to present and analyze the diverse perspectives on fraud risk within the art auction market, exploring the views held by both buyers and sellers. This exploration recognizes the market's composition as a combination of various stakeholders, including auction houses, investors, collectors, and dealers and understanding how these stakeholders perceive fraud risk is vital as it provides insights into the motivations and behaviors that justify their actions. Are buyers cautious due to perceived risks? Do sellers take proactive measures to mitigate fraud? These are questions that this objective aims to answer.

The second research objective addresses the practices and regulations governing art auction houses, for they are the main institutional against art fraud. This objective initiates an in-depth examination of the methods and mechanisms deployed by auction houses to ensure authenticity and prevent fraudulent activities and it seeks to assess the effectiveness of these practices against art fraud while investigating the role of government regulations in shaping these practices. Moreover, the research extends its scope to scrutinize the influence of governmental regulations in shaping these practices and by answering these questions, it provides valuable insights into the strengths and weaknesses of existing measures, paving the way for more robust fraud prevention strategies.

The third research objective is to investigate the role of transparency and accountability within the art auction market. This objective analyzes avenues through which art auction houses can increase transparency to reduce the risk of fraud and, in doing so, restore public trust since an inherent deficit in transparency, especially concerning the estimation and final

sale prices of artworks, erodes bidder confidence, diminishing trust in the auction house itself.

These research objectives form a comprehensive framework for addressing the multifaceted challenge of art fraud within the art auction market. They not only aim to unravel the intricate dynamics of art fraud but also to provide tangible solutions that can lead to a more transparent, accountable, and trustworthy art auction market.

1.3 Significance of the Study

This research holds great significance within the area of art market studies and intersects various disciplines, such as art history, criminology, and cultural economics. This encompasses multiple key aspects that highlight its academic and practical value.

The present study conducts a comprehensive examination of the various factors that contribute to art fraud in an academic manner. It delves into the complexities of the art auction market, shedding light on its inefficiencies and lack of transparency, which have been widely acknowledged but insufficiently studied in the scholarly literature (David et al., 2013). By illuminating pricing strategies, confidential reserves, and bidding practices, this research provides valuable insights into how fraudulent activities are facilitated within this industry. Through such an analysis, our understanding of the mechanics behind art fraud can be significantly deepened.

Furthermore, this study delves into the relationship between authenticity, value, and art fraud to enhance the understanding of market dynamics and consumer decision-making processes. This analysis has practical implications for individuals involved in the art market as well as scholars conducting research in this area since it exemplifies how art fraud impacts sellers and challenges the notion that it is a "victimless" crime carries significant social and ethical significance (Mazurek, 2019). By evaluating both the economic and reputational

consequences faced by buyers affected by fraud, this study contributes to an assessment of its repercussions and by examining societal perceptions surrounding art fraud.

In Chapter 2, a brief overview of the art auction market is presented to better understand the context in which art fraud occurs and its implications for the market, and to highlight the need for a comprehensive examination of art fraud within this specific sector.

Chapter 3 analyses the many stakeholders that are part of the art auction market, especially buyers and sellers, delving into their perspective of risk regarding fraud in the market in order to have new insights into how to develop new strategies to mitigate the risk of fraud.

Chapter 4 focuses on the research of how auction houses provide guarantees and authenticate artworks. It provides more knowledge on how effective their efforts are and if the current government regulations are contributing to preventing the occurrence of fraud.

The case studies presented in this study are analyzed to better understand the instances in which this crime is committed within the art auction market. Through this analysis, the role of trust in the art market is better exemplified and how it has an essential role in the occurrence of art fraud. Besides that, the interview conducted with Noah Charney justifies the need for a comprehensive examination of fraud within the art auction market.

Chapter 2: A overview of the Art Auction Market

The art auction market has become an important part of the global art market, which is estimated to be worth \$30.6 billion by 2022 (McAndrew, n.d.). As profitable as the art auction market is, there are a few considerable characteristics that distinguish it from other markets and that contribute to the propensity for fraud and money laundering, and it is necessary to provide a brief overview to better understand the peculiarities present in this market.

Throughout history, auction houses have been present as a dramatic and theatrical form of selling that entices the collective of many and proportionate selling of diverse objects (e.g., artworks, cars, artifacts, furniture, etc.) through supply and demand. (Heath, 2012) Auctions are a form of buying that does not impose any restraints or regulations in many different countries. The lack of a fixed price mechanism allows the prospective buyer and seller to negotiate the price of the object, allowing competition between buyers to purchase the auctioned object (Heath, 2012). However, these variable prices are, for many scholars, what makes the market inefficient by violating the principle that similar or equal goods must be sold at the same or similar prices even in different locations, resulting in some inequalities regarding pricing (David et al., 2013).

The art auction market evokes the name of the two biggest auction houses on the market in the subconscious of the majority of the population: Christie's and Sotheby's. The latter was founded some years prior to the first, during the middle of the 18th century, and both represent values that are established through their historical legacies, monumental sales, and exclusivity. At the end of the 18th century, Harry Philips founded his own auction house, Philips, which would join Christie's and Sotheby's as being the three dominant powers of this market.¹

However, the art auction market would only become as massive as it currently is with the turn of the 20^{th} century and the rise of the Chinese art market, which, together with the United States of America and the United Kingdom would become the largest market for art

¹ About Us | Phillips. (n.d.). Retrieved May 3, 2023, from https://www.phillips.com/about

in the world. In the 21st century, an 'explosion' of the art auction market would occur, setting new trends within the art sector that are still prominent in the current art scene.

In 2022 alone, Christie's, Sotheby's, and Philips's sales would account for approximately 57% of the \$30.6 billion that was reached during the year. (McAndrew, n.d.) Through statistical analysis of these auction sales, a potential buyer is broadly informed of the trends that the market is currently following, as seen with the sector of Post-War and Contemporary art being the largest seller of the market reaching over 50% of the global fine art auction market (McAndrew, n.d.).

To further comprehend the functioning of an art auction house, it is necessary to understand the basic mechanisms that constitute an auction. First, the main character of an auction is the auctioneer, responsible for determining and announcing the prices according to the reaction of the clients to the first bidding price. Besides that, the auctioneer is also responsible for regulating bidding in a manner that only two participants actively participate in the bidding at a time, providing a sense of competition and ensuring that the auction sale continues to function without various interruptions (McAndrew, n.d.). The second main character is the auction participant, who places the bid and propels their interest in the object that is being sold.

Concerning bidding, the bids are placed in a crescent manner, starting with lower prices, and rising with the auctioneers' proposition for higher bids. As the auctioneer establishes the price, interested participants will raise their hands to declare their willingness to pay the determined sum; if there is more than one interested party, the auctioneer will establish a competitive price for the bidding by raising the price at each announcement (Heath, 2012).

Whenever a price offer is accepted by a participant and none of the other participants continues in the bid, the price is 'hammered down' and the object is sold. The final price is based on the 'buyer's premium' which consists of 10% to 20% of the 'hammered down' amount (Ashenfelter & Graddy, 2006). Regarding the seller's profit, there is usually a commission that is subtracted when the object is sold by an auction house, and it is negotiated with the company beforehand (Ashenfelter & Graddy, 2006).

However, it is important to highlight that several other price components fluctuate during the bidding process in art auction houses. These components include the sales characteristics of the artwork, bidding history for similar artworks, time since the last auction of the artist, and the buyer's perception of the future value addition of the artwork. In addition, art auction houses use some mechanisms to guarantee seller satisfaction and attract bidders, such as minimum price guarantees, confidential reserves, and 'bids off the chandelier'. These price components and mechanisms are further discussed in the next section.

2.1 Price structure: value within the Art Auction Market

Value is a complex concept that underlines modern economic thinking. (Ashenfelter & Graddy, 2006). Nonetheless, establishing value for certain goods can be a difficult endeavor for both the seller and buyer, as an example of this difficulty can be observed throughout the art auction market and the process of selling artworks.

The problem that resides within the art auction market is that art is hard to evaluate given its subjective nature. Thus, the pricing of artwork in auction houses is a complex matter that is closely monitored by experts and researchers. Several factors contribute to the complexity of pricing art in auction houses, including high transaction costs, and the withdrawal of pieces from the market if they cannot achieve the desired prices (Ashenfelter & Graddy, 2006).

The evaluation of artwork by art auction houses is usually reflected in several factors that range from authenticity, rarity, historical importance, medium, size, condition, provenance, demand and the reputation of the artist and its seller. A brief overview of some of these factors is important to follow the concept of value in the market.

2.1.1 Authenticity

Authenticity is usually verified by the use of the catalogue raisonnée of the artist; however, if there are no records available for the artwork, connoisseurs that specialize in the artist's works are called to give a second opinion on authenticity. This is usually seen as a challenge in the art auction market, wherein the quality and value of artwork are difficult to determine, but the importance of authenticity is well established within secondary markets, where resale values depend significantly upon provenance (Bandle, 2015). Therefore, it could be argued that authentication determinations become more critical with time. Artists and collectors alike aspire to authenticity in the artworks they produce or acquire, and authenticity is highly linked to being relatable to the artist's personality, spirit, or character, adding value to the artwork and preserving its cultural heritage. (Newman & Bloom, 2012)

Counterfeiting and fraud are prevalent within the art market, and authentication determinations have become more critical over time, often involving examining technical details such as brushstrokes, paper type, and patina on bronze sculptures, among others. The use of scientific methods such as radiography and carbon dating has also helped to prove or disprove claims regarding the origins of artworks (Sloggett, 2019). Since rarity affects demand levels when supply remains constant, genuine items hold higher resale values over counterfeit ones; therefore, authenticating works is crucial both culturally and financially for artists producing their pieces or collectors acquiring them from secondary markets (McNulty, 2006).

2.1.2 Rarity

Rarity in the art world is usually defined by supply and demand and can produce a sort of mythology about the object and create a competitive ambiance for an auction because the scarcity of an object can create a sort of mythology around it, imbuing it with prestige

and desirability that fuels fierce competitiveness within auction environments (Moulin & Yeoman, 2011).

However, it is difficult to accurately determine rarity due to subjective valuations in the art auction market due to a lack of objective criteria, which highlights the roles of intermediaries such as art critics, historians, dealers, and auction houses in assessing artworks' quality and value over time. ²

It can be concluded that artists seek out rare materials such as precious stones or metals when creating pieces with the knowledge that it will add both cultural significance and potentially increase their long-term monetary gain and induce further inciting opportunities for increased bidding upon selling time during auctions (Rengers & Velthuis, 2002).

2.1.3 Historical Importance

Historical importance has significant value, as it represents an object's significance and the role of its history in contemporary society, leaving behind a legacy made by past generations and serving as a link between different periods, laying the foundation for cultural continuity.³

Analyzing these objects provides a context for how societies operated, their technological advancements, and the belief systems at play during those times. Among the many other valuable insights encompassing geographical location or political climate these historical items are housed within museums and offer access to shared culture, aiding historians in constructing well-rounded depictions bound to research-grounded evidence (Rampley, 2005). Furthermore, examining the marketability around such ancient collections reveals changing perceptions concerning concepts such as authenticity, while providing economic footing by creating opportunities for buyers who invested in the art auction market or in collecting rare pieces (Galenson, 2005).

² The Value of Art | Episode 3: Rarity. (2016, December 20). Sothebys.Com. https://www.sothebys.com/en/videos/the-value-of-art-episode-1-authenticity

³ Sotheby's (Director). (2016). The Value of Art | Episode 5: Historical Importance. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=LRenlUbdgpI

2.1.4 Medium

Medium refers to the material used by an artist to create a painting or object, with rarer mediums often commanding higher prices at auctions. However, other factors such as size can also influence the pricing and perceived value of artwork, with larger pieces often carrying more impact and presence, leading to increased demand and price. In addition to affecting the financial worth of individual pieces, the medium plays a pivotal role in preserving cultural heritage through museums. The preservation of these artifacts ultimately allows for the continued access, study, and appreciation of artistic achievements from various cultures throughout history. This is particularly vital considering that many artworks are susceptible to deterioration due to environmental factors, such as light exposure, improper handling, or fluctuations in temperature and humidity (Tan & Dang, 2022). Therefore, not only does the medium impact an artwork's financial worth, but it is also essential in maintaining its aesthetic integrity (Yoshida, 2004).

2.1.5 Condition

The condition plays a crucial role in evaluating the value of art pieces with the state of conservation, including any restoration work carried out on an object affecting both its aesthetic and monetary value. The condition of an art piece can also provide insights into its historical context and provenance through a close examination of wear and tear or other signs of use (Fincham, 2019).

2.1.6 Provenance

Provenance refers to the ownership history of an artwork, which can increase its value if it has a prestigious or interesting provenance, for example, being owned by a famous collector or figure in history. This prestigious or interesting provenance can increase the value

 $^{^4\} Sotheby's\ (Director).\ (2016).\ The\ Value\ of\ Art\ |\ Episode\ 9:\ Medium.\ https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=mvI9vBEQfgU$

of an artwork significantly with this information creating a historical context and adding cultural significance to art pieces (Bandle, 2015).

Several factors influence the weight a provenance carries when determining its impact on the value of an artwork. A transparent record tracing back directly from the creator to the current owner with no unauthorized alterations enhances authenticity, indicating legitimacy throughout generations, helping identify origins, and assists immensely in research regarding certain art styles (Bandle, 2015). Provenances become even more relevant today due to technology facilitating fraudulent activities like counterfeits emerging steadily and increasing sellers' misleading conducts to customers (Polk & Chappell, 2019).

The importance of provenance in the art auction market lies in its role in safeguarding the value and integrity of the artwork (Fritzke, 2008). By establishing a comprehensive provenance, collectors, buyers, and experts can ascertain the authenticity of a piece while avoiding forgeries or fraudulent works, which adds not only depth to an artwork's unique story, but also playing a vital role in determining its legal or illicit status within the market (Gramlich, 2017).

As such, ensuring proper documentation of provenance becomes imperative for buyers looking to invest in valuable artworks and sellers, aiming to establish their credibility. The transparency provided by detailed records enhances trust among stakeholders and maintains overall confidence in the art auction market (Oliveri et al., 2022).

In this particular context, it is important for potential buyers who wish to invest in valuable artworks and sellers aiming to establish their credibility to ensure that the provenance is well documented. Moreover, the role of provenance in determining the market value of an artwork cannot be overstated. As mentioned previously in the chapter, artwork with a prestigious or intriguing provenance- such as being owned by renowned collectors or prominent figures from history- often commands a higher price due to its intrinsic historical context and cultural significance; as a result, these previous owners contribute to additional layers of rarity as well as desirability (Fritzke, 2008).

To illustrate this point further, it is possible to explore the provenance underlying the artworks produced by the post-war artist Jackson Pollock. The history of ownership and

transactions surrounding these pieces prove essential not only in assessing their financial worth but, more importantly, in establishing their authenticity- that they indeed originated from Pollock himself rather than being replicas or imitations. As an example, it is possible to refer to one of Pollock's drip paintings, "No. 5.", which was created during his abstract expressionist phase, and represents a significant milestone in his artistic career (O' Hara 2015).

The provenance of "No. 5" by Jackson Pollock is considered well documented, showing that it was directly acquired from the artist by the well-known art collector Alfonso A. Ossorio (Levin, 2011). Over time, it has passed through distinguished galleries and private collections, such as The Betty Parsons Gallery and Samuel Irving Newhouse Jr. collection, before eventually being exhibited in major museums around the world (O' Hara 2015). This extensive provenance not only adds to the historical significance of the artwork, but also contributes to its immense market value due to its association with renowned collectors and institutions who have recognized its importance within post-war art movements.

Furthermore, the concept of provenance possesses different meanings in the realm of art, as it encompasses not only establishing authenticity and avoiding forgeries, but also influencing market value by providing invaluable insights into an artist's career trajectory. This can be further comprehended by analyzing scenarios where artworks can be traced back to a significant early period or are associated with important milestones in an artist's artistic development such as the case with Pollock's "No. 5" painting. In such instances, these works would be more valuable than pieces created during later or less impactful periods in the artist's career. Thus, provenance plays a vital role in determining both the monetary value and perceived significance attached to an artwork (Fritzke, 2008).

Provenance is crucial when considering the authenticity and value of an art object. It provides a comprehensive record of ownership history over time, which helps establish credibility while avoiding forgery or misrepresentation. Similarly, documenting provenance enables researchers and connoisseurs to trace every step from creation to exhibition venues.

2.1.7 Demand

When it comes to auctioning artwork, the number of bidders can be a crucial factor that affects its value. Nonetheless, predicting prices can prove challenging due to varying beliefs about an artwork's worth (Heath, 2012), and the distribution of private-value benefits among prospective buyers with this uncertainty being largely attributable to what art market experts call a "common-value characteristic." (De Silva et al., 2012)

Despite this complexity in the valuation process, bidding wars involving several interested parties tend to inflate final sale amounts significantly higher than anticipated. Additionally, the presence of multiple bidders could foster a sense of competition, resulting in more aggressive bids and increased price volatility at auctions. (Heath, 2012)

Besides these factors contributing to the value of an artwork, there are also some price mechanisms used by auction houses to ensure maximum profit for sellers and to attract potential buyers. The minimum price guarantee is offered by the auction houses to sellers through the promise that their piece will be sold for the minimum amount agreed upon by the institution and the vendor. If the object is not sold or sold for less than the minimum price, the art auction house will either buy the piece or reinstitute the seller so that the base price is achieved. In the case of an object being sold for more, profits are usually shared between the auction house and the vendor. While this generates more opportunities for selling and buying art in the art auction market, it also raises questions of transparency within these transactions, since any price that is published can be different from the amount it was sold for (Adam, n.d.).

Moreover, confidential reserves play an important role in price assessment and transparency in the art auction market. These confidential reserves are set by the auction house and seller, setting up a minimum price; if this amount is not reached during the bidding process, the artwork goes unsold or is bought in by the auction house (Ashenfelter & Graddy, 2006). There are even some bidding techniques used to achieve the price set by the reserve,

and the most common one would be 'bidding off the chandelier' in which the auctioneer executes bidding in the name of the seller.

However, this pricing strategy brings ethical dilemmas regarding the legitimacy of an auctioneer bidding on behalf of the seller because it may create a conflict of interest and undermine the transparency and fairness of the auction process (Heath, 2012). Confidential reserve prices also reduce the art market efficiency and transparency. Through the secrecy surrounding these prices, buyers may not have a clear understanding of the true value of the artwork because of their inability to create an accurate price prediction (David et al., 2013).

In conclusion, the art auction market presents a challenging paradigm that incorporates several subjective and objective factors in determining an artwork's worth. Although the valuation process is complex, it is evident that successful auctions can attract multiple bidders to compete aggressively for pieces of their choice (Adam ,2014.). Therefore, stakeholders in this industry must balance various elements, such as authenticity, artistic appeal, and popular demand, alongside other arbitrage activities when assessing fair prices for any given work of art.

While experts play important roles in influencing perceptions surrounding artistic value or potential profit generation outcomes, auction houses have become principal players within the global economy, helping increase liquidity through "price discovery" coupled with speculation tactics, leading to heightened sales figures (Adam, 2014).

In Section 2.2, fraud in the art auction market is further discussed from a critical standpoint, briefly exploring the types of fraud prevalent in this market and its potential impact on the auction industry as a whole.

2.2 Art Fraud: Definition, Ramifications and Pertinence

The art auction market is a multi-billion-dollar industry that has attracted many investors and collectors over the years, however, it is an inefficient market that contributes to the occurrence of art fraud (David et al., 2013).

Art fraud can be defined as a form of art crime involving the deliberate deception or misrepresentation of an artwork's true origin, authenticity, or provenance. (Hufnagel & Chappell, 2019). It also takes the form of theft, money laundering, or other illicit activities related to the buying and selling of art and during this chapter, we will delve into its various types and ramifications.

Art fraud can be classified into several types including fakes, forgeries, and copies (Nguyen et al., 2018). The distinction between fakes and forgeries is crucial, as forgeries are considered to be more serious art crimes due to the intention of deceiving buyers into assuming the artwork to be original when in fact it is not, while fakes are created to mimic an artist's style without necessarily deceiving buyers (Hufnagel & Chappell, 2019). Nonetheless, copies are more controversial as they can be seen in some countries as a form of emulation or tribute to an artist's style (Nguyen et al., 2018), instead of a fraudulent activity, they are defined as art pieces that duplicate the original work of an artist but with no intention to deceive, associated with issues of intellectual property and copyright infringement, rather than art crime with fraudulent intent (Gupta, 2005).

The ramifications of art fraud are far-reaching, extending beyond the art market and affecting society as a whole (Hufnagel & Chappell, 2019). First, art fraud undermines the integrity of the art market and lowers public trust in its authenticity which leads to a decrease in investments (Amineddoleh, 2015). Moreover, it can damage the reputation of artists and collectors whose names may be associated with fraudulent artwork, and it has significant financial implications as buyers and investors may suffer huge losses due to the purchase of fraudulent art pieces.

Second, art fraud can lead to legal disputes and financial losses for buyers who may have purchased fake or forged artwork at inflated prices and to the destruction of cultural heritage, as art thieves and fraudsters may steal or forge cultural artifacts and sell them on the black market, thereby misrepresenting cultural heritage (Amineddoleh, 2015). Additionally, art fraud is not only an economic crime, but also a threat to cultural heritage, as it can contribute to the loss and destruction of significant historical and cultural artifacts, which are invaluable to society.

Third, art fraud has broader societal implications as it may contribute to the funding of criminal activities while also facilitating money laundering schemes. This is an area where there are different repercussions on how to approach art fraud, especially in different countries and cultures. It is possible to exemplify such a difference by mentioning France, which possesses a legal system that has protective measures against art fraud (Article 1130, French Civil Code, n.d.), and China, which lacks specific laws that address art fraud (Jingtian & Gongcheng - Angell Xi, 2019). In addition to these examples, other countries do not record art fraud as a separate entity from other forms of fraud, making it difficult to estimate the incidence of such crimes with these competing definitions of what constitutes art fraud, which can complicate the efforts to quantify the problem. Because of the lack of official statistics and policing agencies that separate art fraud from other forms of fraud, it is difficult to estimate the true extent of art fraud.

Therefore, market participants face a significant dilemma: while the need to protect their investments puts them on high alert, overzealousness may turn out counterproductive, causing unnecessary suspicions about otherwise authentic artwork and undermining their overall confidence in legitimate pieces being traded (Runhovde, 2021). Balancing quality control with transparency and fairness presents an ongoing challenge, as all stakeholders aim to maintain confidence within this lucrative industry.

The relevance of art fraud in contemporary society is a matter of great curiosity and concern because of its impact on various aspects of the art auction market and society as a whole. It poses a substantial threat to the integrity and credibility of the art market, which relies heavily on trust and authenticity. (Heath, 2012) The prevalence of forged artwork undermines this foundation with mistrust, making it increasingly difficult to differentiate between genuine and fraudulent pieces.

As a concluding note to this chapter, it is possible to affirm that the concept of value in the art auction market is one of extreme complexity and depth. (David et al., 2013) The determination of value in this market involves numerous factors that go beyond mere aesthetic appreciation or artistic skills. While these aspects are certainly important, other elements such as provenance, rarity, cultural significance, historical context, and marketing strategies contribute significantly to an artwork's perceived worth. Furthermore, some

pricing strategies used by auction houses also impact the value within the art auction market, as well as transparency and trust in the market.

This lack of transparency in the art auction market creates perfect conditions and an inefficient market that propels the crime of art fraud. (David et al., 2013) Art fraud has several social, economic, and cultural repercussions, and to better understand how these crimes affect the art auction market, it is necessary to further delve into players' perception of fraud risk within the market.

Chapter 3: Perception of Fraud Risk in the Art Auction Market

Fraudulent activities in the art auction industry have become a growing concern in recent years, drawing significant attention from both scholars and law enforcement agencies. As the art market continues to expand, dealing with billions of dollars' worth of transactions each year, instances of auction fraud have become increasingly prevalent. According to the Fine Art Institute, over 50% of art is forged or distorted (Scorcu et al., 2021). This has sparked interest in investigating the causes, types, and effects of fraud in this industry.

The art auction market is characterized as being an extremely opaque market (McNulty, 2006). An opacity that benefits some players and leaves the possibility of disguising several types of crimes. However, the focus of this study is the act of fraud and how it affects the market in several aspects, such as risk perception and reputation.

3.1 Understanding Buyers' Perception of Fraud

Comprehending buyers' perception of art fraud risk is essential in assessing its influence on their behaviour in the art market, with the perception of risk referring to an individual's subjective assessment of the likelihood and potential consequences of encountering fraudulent artworks in the market (Amineddoleh, 2015). Buyers' perceptions of art fraud risk can significantly impact their behavior in the art market (Runhovde, 2021).

It would be expected that whenever buyers perceive a high risk of art fraud, they would be more likely to adopt cautious and defensive comportments. Nonetheless, the influence of fraud perception on behavior in the art market is complex. While it is logical to assume that a higher perception of art fraud risk would lead buyers to be more skeptical and hesitant in their purchasing decisions, the impact on buyer behavior may differ depending on various factors, such as individual characteristics, market conditions, and the perceived value of the artwork (Cheong, 2021).

Whenever an artist's work is perceived as highly valuable or prestigious, buyers may be more willing to take the risk of potential fraud, as they believe the potential rewards outweigh the risks, with scandals regarding fraud causing sellers to only postpone their sales (Flynn, n.d.). Nevertheless, their impact is considered small "indicating that price increases lead more forgers to enter the market." (Flynn, n.d.) As was analyzed with the case of the market revolving around the sculptures by Alberto Giacometti in which an empirical study was performed after the discovery of several forged sculptures in the market (Scorcu et al., 2021), it was found that despite the increased fraud perception, buyers were still actively participating in the market and bidding on Giacometti's artworks. There were some variations in price during and after the scandal, but overall, the demand for Giacometti's work did not significantly decrease and its price remained relatively stable with "its effect being short-lived, and the segment moving towards its previous pre-shock trend" (Scorcu et al., 2021).

This leads to the conclusion that buyers may have placed higher importance on the prestige and aesthetic value of Giacometti's sculptures, overshadowing their concerns about potential fraud. This case exemplifies reputation and perceived value overriding fraud perception, highlighting the complex nature of buyer behavior in the art market. It has been referenced by many different scholars and is usually an effect commonly seen in the international art market (Scorcu et al., 2021).

This phenomenon is often explained by the fact that a considerable percentage of buyers in the art market rely solely on the expertise and knowledge of a connoisseur to assess the authenticity of artworks, trusting their ability to differentiate between genuine and forged pieces, which reduces their perceived risk of fraud or influences their decision-making process (Amineddoleh, 2015). While it is true that buyers cannot solely rely on their own expertise to detect art fraud, they must also exercise caution when relying on the expertise of others. In the art market, where forgeries and counterfeit works are becoming increasingly sophisticated, it has become essential for potential buyers to adopt a comprehensive and technical approach to determine authenticity by hearing multiple professional opinions and analyzing scientific data (Sloggett, 2019). Therefore, it is crucial that buyers conduct diligent research and seek multiple opinions before making informed decisions regarding the authenticity of a piece.

Another factor that influences buyer behavior in the art market is the availability of information, in which buyers are more likely to engage in fraudulent transactions if there is

a lack of transparency and information about the artwork's provenance, history, and authenticity, which is commonly seen in the art market (Coslor, 2016). This lack of information can create uncertainty and increase fraud perception, potentially leading buyers to become more cautious or hesitant in their purchasing decisions. However, these perceived risks do not appear to deter buyers in the art market significantly (Scorcu et al., 2021).

Overall, fraud perception does not seem to have a significant impact on buyer conduct in the art market, with buyers often willing to take the risk of potential fraud in their pursuit of acquiring valuable and prestigious artwork (Bocart & Oosterlinck, 2011). However, it is important to reflect on the ethical implications of this behavior. While fraud perception may not have a substantial effect on buyer behavior in the art market, it raises ethical concerns regarding the authenticity and integrity of artwork (Nguyen et al., 2018).

Buyers who are willing to overlook the risk of fraud may contribute to the perpetuation of counterfeit artwork and undermine the credibility and value of genuine pieces in the art market and cultural heritage. However, buyers' perception is a factor in the complex dynamics of the art market. It is also important to consider the role of art institutions, galleries, and auction houses in ensuring the authenticity and legality of artworks, and the role of sellers and institutions in providing accurate and transparent information about the artworks they sell. Therefore, the sellers' and institutions' perceptions of art fraud risk will be further discussed in this chapter to gain a comprehensive understanding of the influence of fraud perception on behavior in the art market.

3.2 Sellers' Perception of Fraud

To fully comprehend the impact of art fraud on behavior within the art market, it is crucial to understand how sellers and institutions perceive the associated risks. This knowledge allows us to gain insights into their perspectives and shed light on the extent to which art fraud affects their actions. The role of sellers within in the market is undeniably influential in shaping the dynamics of the marketplace and these stakeholders, often driven by financial interests and motivations, have significant power in determining the fate of artworks that pass through their hands. However, a critical aspect that needs attention is their

perception, or sometimes the lack thereof, of art fraud risks in the market and the extent to which these perceptions affect their behavior and decision-making processes. It is notable that, in some instances, sellers and institutions may perceive art fraud as a risk that does not directly impact their interests, leading to a certain degree of apathy or indifference regarding the issue (Charney, 2016).

While art fraud poses substantial risks to buyers and the overall integrity of the market, sellers and institutions may perceive themselves as relatively insulated from these risks since sellers are often motivated by the desire to maximize profits, may prioritize the sale of artworks over the meticulous scrutiny required to detect art fraud and institutions, on the other hand, may focus on their reputation and maintaining a smooth auction process, which can sometimes overshadow their vigilance towards art fraud prevention. This divergence in perception comes from a perceived misalignment of interests, as sellers and institutions may not bear the direct financial or reputational consequences of art fraud to the same extent as buyers (Charney, 2016). Consequently, this perception can lead to a sense of detachment from the issue, creating a gap in the market's defenses against art fraud.

The world of art dealing is considered by many as a 'grey market,' in which the dealers are complacent and key participants in the negotiation (Runhovde, 2020). A self-regulating market that provides sellers, intermediaries, and buyers with a level of discretion not usually seen in another sphere that perpetuates an auspicious territory for ambiguous transactions and criminal acts (Hufnagel & Chappell, 2019). Throughout the research, the question arose of how informed the agents of this market are regarding art fraud and how this lack of information manipulates the market. Since discretion is the main characteristic of transactions, authenticity continues to be a serious problem propagated throughout transactions, mainly through the lack of effectiveness regarding provenance (Hufnagel & Chappell, 2019).

Provenance is originally a French word meaning the place of origin of something, and in the art market, it refers to the historical transactions that the art piece has passed with the objective of tracking it down until the origin of the object.¹ In several cases, the provenance can be verified through a living relative who has inherited the artwork and has

¹ Provenance. (2023, July 12). https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/provenance

produced a catalogue raisonné for the artist (Hufnagel & Chappell, 2019). Through tracking down all of this information, an art dealer is providing 'due diligence,' a process to actually verify provenance.

The importance of provenance in art transactions is often overlooked by many dealers, who prioritize other factors and this neglect of provenance becomes the standard practice in most art sales involving buyers and sellers. A study conducted by Runhovde, which consisted of interviews with Norwegian art dealers between 2018 and 2020, revealed that trust played a crucial role in these transactions (Runhovde, 2021). While there are concerns about the lack of regulation within this profession, trust between the parties involved becomes the foundation upon which these deals are built.

Within this context of trust, the issue of provenance arises as an instinctual decision made by dealers based on their assessments of credibility and reliability (Runhovde, 2020). The majority opinion among interviewed dealers was to avoid delving too deeply into questions regarding provenance unless necessary since, "99% of cases it is totally fine" (Runhovde, 2020). This suggests that despite its significance in certain instances, overall dealer reliance on trusting relationships leads to a lenient approach when considering an artwork's origin or history.

This perception of risk is highly influenced by the uniqueness, subjective value, and authenticity of the artwork, which makes it difficult for buyers to evaluate the monetary value of an art piece before committing to a purchase. Studies highlight that the art auction market is a highly complex and traditional system in which trust plays a critical role in building relationships between buyers, sellers, and intermediaries (Polk & Chappell, 2019). In addition, trust, transparency, and information play crucial roles in the perception of risk in the art auction market. Research has also noted that guarantees, warranties, and provenances are essential tools for reducing risk perception among potential buyers. (Hufnagel & Chappell, 2019)

The significance of provenance in evaluating risk within the art market is illustrated by the high-profile case involving Wolfgang and Helene Beltracchi, German art dealers who gained notoriety for fraudulent activities. The couple orchestrated a sophisticated scheme that resulted in the creation and sale of over 300 counterfeit artworks by expressionist masters

(Hufnagel & Chappell, 2019). In this elaborate deception, Wolfgang utilized his artistic skills to meticulously replicate the styles of renowned artists, while Helene fabricated compelling narratives about the provenance of each artwork to lend them credibility among prospective buyers.

In the case of Helene Beltracchi and her forgery scheme, she managed to create a deceitful cover story to authenticate her fake artworks. To enhance the credibility of her fraudulent pieces, Beltracchi purchased an authentic camera from the 1930s to take photographs that would appear as if they were captured during that time period (Hufnagel & Chappell, 2019). Additionally, she dressed up as her deceased grandmother in front of these forged paintings to add authenticity when posing for the pictures.

Moreover, when questioned about the provenance of these art pieces by potential buyers or sellers, Beltracchi and her collaborators came up with a fabricated narrative involving Alfred Fletchheim, a German art dealer who allegedly fled Germany due to Jewish persecution during World War II. By associating their fake artwork with this seemingly legitimate historical figure and claiming that it was part of his collection known as "the Jägers Collection," they further solidified their perceived trustworthiness (Hufnagel & Chappell, 2019).

In addition to establishing provenance, the couple in question also took steps to ensure the authenticity of their art collection. They sought specialist opinions from renowned artists and experts in order to certify that the paintings they had acquired were genuine. An example of this practice is evident in their engagement with Werner Spies, a Max Ernst specialist who was not only well acquainted with the artist but also confirmed that one particular painting believed to be fake was actually created by Ernst himself (Hufnagel & Chappell, 2019).

Furthermore, it is worth noting that one of these paintings underwent scrutiny when it went up for sale at Christie's auction house: It was validated as an authentic work through meticulous examination carried out by specialists whose opinions carry significant weight within the art world.

Dr Nicholas Estaugh played a pivotal role in unravelling this intricate web of deception as he conducted meticulous scientific examinations that ultimately exposed Rotes

Bild mit Pferdenas (Figure 1) an elaborate forgery copying the style of Heinrich Campendonk.⁵ These investigations demonstrated inconsistencies within its composition, particularly through detection schemes such as analyzing pigments used during different time periods.



Figure 1. Wolfgang Beltracchi. (2006). Rotes Bild mit Pferdenas. Retrieved from: https://arttrado.de/news/faelscher-die-die-welt-bewegten-2-wolfgang-beltracchi/

This revelation had significant reverberations within the art world: subsequent buyers who had acquired artwork from similar dubious sources began to subject their own pieces to rigorous scientific analyses, which consistently revealed traces indicating materials incongruent with their supposed creation dates (Charney, 2019). This pattern further reinforced the growing awareness regarding reliance on comprehensive authentication methods rather than mere trust based on narratives or external appearances.

Wolfgang and Helen Beltracchi case highlight the inherent risks associated with relying mainly on trust in the art market, particularly when provenance is considered the primary factor for authentication. Despite being convicted and sentenced to paying fines and undergoing house arrest for a certain period, Wolfgang Beltracchi continues to actively participate in the art market. He has continued selling his own artwork and even ventured

⁵ Beltracchi: The Art of Forgery (2014)—IMDb. (n.d.). Retrieved July 23, 2023, from https://www.imdb.com/title/tt3212568/.

into the realm of NFTs, drawing inspiration from renowned masterpieces such as Leonardo da Vinci's Salvator Mundi (Lau, 2021).

This situation raises important questions regarding suitable punitive measures for individuals involved in art forgery. In light of this case, one could argue that rather than facing appropriate consequences for their crimes, these criminals might actually be rewarded by gaining notoriety within both artistic circles and media coverage (Coslor, 2016). These issues demonstrate why establishing mechanisms rooted in independent scientific techniques alongside traditional methods of analysis is crucial to effectively combating forgery.

3.3 Influence of Fraud Perception on Behavior

3.3.1 The crime of art forgery

Art Fraud is a type of crime that involves deception, forgery, and the manipulation of provenance in order to deceive buyers or collectors and even though it is considered a white-collar crime, its impact extends beyond financial losses (Amore, 2015). However, this crime is not considered as serious as other forms of criminal activity, and the perpetrators of art fraud do not face significant consequences, as previously shown in Beltracchi's case.

The concept of a lack of punishment in the realm of art crime is intricately linked to its societal structure and the perception of its associated risk. From a sociological standpoint, many art crimes are classified as victimless crimes, where the general public may lack sympathy towards wealthy victims, who are usually the main targets of art fraud (Mazurek, 2019). These victims are often seen as bearing responsibility for their own losses due to their perceived negligence in not safeguarding against potential deception. However, the prevailing notion of victimless crimes in the art market can contribute to an increased perception of risk among prospective buyers and investors (Flynn, n.d.).

It is possible to highlight that the perception of risk within the context of art auctions encompasses several interconnected factors. These factors encompass various elements,

including, but not limited to, the reputation and credibility associated with auction houses, the authentication processes employed, transparency regarding pricing information and provenance, market trends and speculation surrounding specific artworks, and legal considerations pertinent to buying or investing in artwork (Heath, 2012).

The reputation of an auction house has a crucial impact on how trustworthiness and credibility are perceived in its transactions with a strong and positive reputation, asserting confidence among buyers, sellers, and other participants in the art market (Heath, 2012). It also serves as a signal of integrity, expertise, and fairness in conducting business which is particularly important considering the nature of art transactions which often involve high-value items with unique characteristics.

Auctions houses with established reputations tend to attract more bidders and achieve higher prices for artworks compared to those without such repute and they are also likely to have better access to consignments from collectors who value their proven track record for success (Heath, 2012). Overall, it can be concluded that the reputation of an auction house significantly influences perceptions related to trustworthiness and credibility within its transactions.

The implementation of authentication methods during evaluations bolster buyer confidence and alleviates any concerns pertaining to the authenticity of artworks. Through rigorous procedures, auction houses verify the legitimacy and provenance of art pieces before they are put up for sale. This assures potential buyers and minimizes doubts regarding issues related to forgery or misattribution (Hufnagel & Chappell, 2019). Authentication practices play a crucial role in ensuring transparency within the art market by establishing an objective criterion through which the genuineness of artworks can be determined and through this process, buyers can make informed decisions based on reliable information about the artwork's provenance, artist attribution, and historical significance (Newman & Bloom, 2012).

Transparency and reliable provenance details play crucial roles in bolstering fairness and confidence within the art market's pricing mechanisms. When it comes to establishing the value of an artwork, transparency ensures that a fair process is followed, allowing all

stakeholders involved to have access to relevant information (Coslor, 2016). By providing clear and open procedures for determining prices, auction houses can create a sense of trust among buyers and sellers.

Moreover, having reliable provenance details adds another layer of confidence to the authenticity of artworks. Provenance records contain vital historical information about an artwork's ownership history, which helps establish its credibility, and buyers are more likely to feel secure in their purchases when they have access to such documentation as it provides assurance regarding the origin and legitimacy of the artwork (Bandle, 2015).

Market trends and speculation surrounding specific artwork play a pivotal role in the art market, influencing both prices and demand, which are often driven by various economic, social, and cultural forces that shape the perception of value within the art world (Jurevičienė & Savičenko, 2011). One important aspect is market sentiment, which reflects investors' beliefs about future price movements, based on current conditions (Blasco et al., 2012). Speculation comes into play as buyers and sellers anticipate changes in these trends to capitalize on potential gains or mitigate losses and auction houses contribute significantly to this process through their expertise in assessing market dynamics and setting estimated values for artwork. Additionally, external events such as exhibitions, publications, critical acclaim, or endorsements from influential figures can impact an artwork's perceived worth, with the media playing an essential role in disseminating information about artists' achievements or significant developments within the art industry (Beckert & Rössel, 2013).

The factors affecting market trends extend beyond artistic quality alone; the historical significance of works or artist reputations may attract additional attention from collectors seeking investment opportunities and well-informed dealers with profound knowledge of past sales records possess better insights when trading artworks (McNulty, 2006).

When it comes to purchasing or investing in artwork, there are several legal considerations that are crucial. The art market, like any other industry, operates within a legal framework that governs transactions and protects the rights of the parties involved, but there is a lack of specific laws in many different countries which increases the chance of criminal activities (Merryman et al, 2007). Buyers and investors should be aware of certain legal aspects before making any decisions (Merryman et al, 2007).

One important consideration is the authenticity of the artwork and the establishment of provenance which is essential as it ensures that buyers are acquiring genuine pieces. Additionally, copyright issues must be considered to avoid infringing on an artist's intellectual property rights (Towse, 2006).

Contracts should play a significant role in art transactions, outlining terms such as payment methods, delivery arrangements, warranties or guarantees from sellers regarding the authenticity or condition of the artwork, return policies, etc. (Grau-Pantureac, 2023). However, as will be further discussed in some of the case studies, many transactions in the art market are made through verbal agreements. Another area requiring attention is taxation laws related to buying or selling artworks, tax liabilities may arise concerning capital gains tax upon sale or transfer of ownership (Akhavan, 2012).

Lastly, it is also important to highlight the importance of insurance in the art market, which can mitigate risks associated with owning valuable art pieces particularly given their susceptibility to damage during transit, storage, handling, loan, multiple displays by museums or galleries over time even resulting in claims due to theft in some cases insurers require conservation reports (Kerr, 2016).

Besides these factors that influence the perception of risks and behaviors in the art market, another important aspect to consider is the psychological factors that contribute to the perception of fraud and influence behavior in the art market.

For instance, anchoring bias has a significant influence on art auction outcomes, anchoring bias is the practice in which the initial price set for an artwork can shape bidders' perception of its value and ultimately affect how much they are willing to pay for it (Beggs & Graddy, 2009). This anchoring bias affects individuals since they are more likely to bid higher on an artwork if the initial price set by the auction house is higher and directly impacts buyers' behavior and perceptions of the market (Ashenfelter & Graddy, 2006). By pushing this behavior, it can lead to an undermining of the credibility of both the auction house and the art market as a whole with these perceptions contributing to their decision to participate in the auction or purchase art from a particular seller.

Furthermore, the art market is influenced by various other factors that have brought about significant changes. One such factor is the increased liquidity facilitated by online resources, which has revolutionized the buying and selling of artworks (Louargand & McDaniel, 1991). With more accessibility to financing options, potential buyers now have greater flexibility in acquiring valuable pieces of art. These developments have transformed the dynamics within the art industry as a whole.

In conclusion, the art market is a highly intricate and multifaceted industry that is shaped by numerous factors with the concept of risk being a crucial consideration for both buyers and sellers in this market. Factors such as insurance coverage and concerns about fraudulent practices play significant roles in influencing behavior and decision-making within the art market. Sellers in the art market are not immune to the perception of fraud and its potential impact on their business and buyers also consider various psychological factors when making purchasing decisions.

Therefore, it is necessary for sellers in the art market to proactively address these concerns and take steps to mitigate the perception of fraud and for buyers to be cautious and conduct thorough research before making any purchases. It raises the question of how the art market can effectively regulate itself to ensure transparency and trustworthiness, thereby minimizing the risk of fraud while maintaining a sustainable and lucrative market. Through careful exploration and meticulous examination, the upcoming chapter will shed light on several key factors relating to art market regulation.

Chapter 4: Current Practices and Regulations to Prevent Art Fraud

Art fraud, especially art forgery, has been a crime present throughout human history since art has had value attached to its creation (Fine, 1983). Since Ancient Egypt forgeries have been considered a lucrative form of business that continues to thrive in the modern art market (Fine, 1983). However, the dispute over art authenticity that brought about awareness of the prevalence of forgeries in the market also sparked the development of current practices and regulations to prevent art fraud was the case of Han van Meegeren, a Dutch artist and forger, who successfully sold an impressive fake Vermeer painting *The Supper at Emmaus* during the 1930s and 1940s (Fine, 1983) (Fig 2). Van Meegeren had failed to gain recognition as a legitimate artist and resorted to creating forgeries to deceive experts and even museums, being able to sell his masterpiece forgery to the Nazi commander Hermann Göring (Amore, 2015).



Figure 2. Han van Meegeren. (1936–1937) The supper at Emmaus. [Old canvas relined]. Museum Boijmans Van Beuningen, Rotterdam, The Netherlands. Retrieved from: https://www.boijmans.nl/en/collection/artworks/101464/the-men-at-emmaus

After the repercussions of the Van Meegeren case, there has been an increased emphasis on implementing measures to prevent and combat art fraud in the art auction market. The measures are varied within different countries and jurisdictions, but they generally aim to enhance transparency, create a system for authentication, and establish legal consequences for those involved in art fraud. For a better understanding of how each country legally approaches art fraud, this study will focus on three countries that have a similar legal heritage and principles as former British colonies: Australia, Canada, and the United Kingdom.

4.1 Government Regulations and Their Effectiveness

4.1.1 Australia

Australia has a relatively small and emerging art market, with its yearly auction sales reaching around A\$ 102 million,⁶ and with the rise in value of this emerging market, there are more instances in which art fraud is committed, and as consequence it can damage the reputation of the market internationally and reduce its economic value (Nguyen et al., 2018). To address this issue, Australia has implemented certain measures and regulations that can be discussed and analyzed, for better understanding, they are divided into five measures.⁷ The first one is the implementation of a Code of Conduct in which the Australian government, along with art industry associations, has developed a code that outlines ethical practices for artists, galleries, dealers, and auction houses. The main goal of this code of conduct is to promote transparency, honesty, and integrity within the art market and to ensure that artworks are accurately represented and described to potential buyers.⁸ This code of conduct is also applied to all the employees that are working within the Australian Arts Council which assures that they do not "Not provide false or misleading information in response to a request for information that is made for official purposes."

⁶ The Art Law Review—The Law Reviews. (n.d.). Retrieved August 25, 2023, from https://thelawreviews.co.uk/title/the-art-law-review/australia

⁷ Art Crime | Office of Justice Programs. (n.d.). Retrieved July 28, 2023, from https://www.ojp.gov/ncjrs/virtual-library/abstracts/art-crime-0

⁸ Ibid

⁹ Ibid

The second is the establishment of a certification system that authenticates artworks from aboriginal artists and provides buyers with confidence in their purchase. These systems involved the verification of provenance and documentation of the artwork's history, and after the artwork has been considered an authentic one it receives a label that considers it as an original Australian Indigenous artwork.¹⁰

It helped boost the work of underrepresented artists and assure the buyer that they are acquiring certified artwork. To obtain the label of authenticity the artist needed to be registered with the National Indigenous Arts Advocacy Association (NIAAA), the NIAA objective was to promote Australian Indigenous culture, but, in 2002, the Association stopped operating and therefore stopped issuing labels of authenticity for the artists. ¹¹This authentication system may have been operational for a short period; however, it has been crucial to protect the integrity of Australian Aboriginal Art and to promote future ideas that can prevent fraud and misrepresentation in the Australian art market.

The third is investing in training programs and educational initiatives to educate art professionals and collectors about the importance of assuring that the artwork being sold is original (Studies, 2022). The government started initiatives that aim to increase awareness and knowledge about the risks and consequences of art fraud and the benefits of ethical purchases, enabling individuals to make informed decisions when buying or selling artworks. These initiatives include buying artworks straight from the artists or through the galleries in which these artists are represented; being aware of materials that may be non-traditional while buying Australian Aboriginal artworks and asking for small details about the artist's life to verify that this seller does indeed represent the artist (Studies, 2022).

The fourth is by improving law enforcement. Australia did not possess a specialized art crime unit, so new efforts are being made to enhance law enforcement's capacity to address art fraud cases such as current reviews of Australian copyright laws.12 The Australian Copyright Laws were introduced with The Copyright Act of 1968 in order to regulate literary, dramatic, musical, and artistic works, and the difference with Australian

¹⁰ Certificates of Authenticity (AITB). (n.d.). Arts Law Centre of Australia. Retrieved August 25, 2023, from https://www.artslaw.com.au/information-sheet/certificates-of-authenticity-aitb/

¹¹ Ibid

¹² Protecting Australian artists. (2022, November 24). Our Ministers – Attorney-General's Portfolio. https://ministers.ag.gov.au/media-centre/protecting-australian-artists-24-11-2022

copyrights is that there is no need to register your work to be copyrighted, it is done as soon as the idea is written or uploaded online.¹³ However, there are no specific laws that address the incidence of art fraud and there are ongoing discussions about the need for better collaboration between the police, art industry professionals, and relevant government agencies to ensure a more effective response to art fraud (Davies, 2017).

Since 2010, several organizations such as the Art Law Centre of Australia and the Indigenous Art Code have been advocating for the copyright laws of the Aboriginals, and from the pressure that was exerted by these groups, the Competition and Consumer Amendment (Prevention of Exploitation of Indigenous Cultural Expressions) Bill was implemented and it would guarantee that "supply or offer commercial goods to a consumer that include Indigenous cultural expression unless supplied by, or following a transparent arrangement with, an Indigenous artist or relevant Indigenous community." (Commonwealth Parliament, n.d.) would be considered a criminal offence. Nonetheless, this bill did not pass through the Senate Standing Committees on Environment and Communications that stated that the "broader objective is beyond the scope of the current bill." (Commonwealth Parliament, n.d.) Therefore, there is still a current discussion regarding art fraud and artwork authentication applied to Australian law enforcement.

The fifth is through the enhancement of international cooperation especially through the efforts to collaborate with international organizations and other countries to share information, intelligence, and best practices in the detection and prevention of art fraud (Interpol, 2022). This cooperation is essential in a globalized art auction market where artworks can easily cross borders and where fraudulent practices may transcend national boundaries.

These measures are aimed at protecting the integrity of the art market, preserving the reputation of Australian art, and minimizing the economic losses associated with art fraud. However, these measures alone are not as effective in addressing the issue regarding art fraud in Australia. Even though there are Australian criminal laws related to fraud and forgery, import/export regulations, intellectual property laws, and consumer protection laws, there are none specific to art fraud. This lack of specific legislation and art crime unit makes it difficult

_

¹³ Copyright law | ALRC. (n.d.). Retrieved August 25, 2023, from https://www.alrc.gov.au/publication/genes-and-ingenuity-gene-patenting-and-human-health-alrc-report-99/28-copyright-and-databases/copyright-law/

for law enforcement agencies to prioritize art fraud cases and allocate resources to investigate them thoroughly (Alder et al., 2011)

4.1.2 Canada

Canada has also a relatively new art market that has recently gained more attention from international buyers and collectors (Heritage, 2019). However, even though it is considered an emerging market, it has already faced some challenges regarding art fraud (Nelson & Nelson, 2016). The Canadian government takes a unique approach to addressing art fraud compared to other countries, such as Australia. While Australia lacks a specialized art crime unit due to a lack of reported cases, ¹⁴ Canada treats forgeries as faked documents and applies existing laws related to fraud and misrepresentation to art-related cases and offenders can be prosecuted for offences such as falsifying signatures, false advertising, or intentional misrepresentation in the art market (Branch, 2023).

Therefore, one can infer that the crime of art forgery or false authentication is covered by these laws, but, since there are no specific law enforcement squads that are specialized in art fraud crimes, many of them go undetected by the local police force since these local law enforcement agencies are not used to dealing with the complexity and lack of transparency within the art auction market. These regulations ensure that proper documentation and declaration of artworks are in place when they are being imported or exported, controlling their movement, and reducing the chances of fraudulently claiming an artwork's authenticity or provenance. Besides that, import/export regulations and intellectual property laws also play a crucial role in preventing art fraud in Canada. If a buyer acquires an artwork in Canadian territory, he has to apply for a special export license to be able to transport the piece to another country. In addition, if the work is considered essential for the Canadian cultural heritage, it will be included within the Canadian Cultural Property Export Control List and for that reason it cannot be exported from Canadian territory (Branch, 2006).

¹⁴ Art Crime | Office of Justice Programs. (n.d.). Retrieved July 28, 2023, from https://www.ojp.gov/ncjrs/virtual-library/abstracts/art-crime-0

¹⁵ Art law: Restrictions on the export of cultural property and artwork. (n.d.). Retrieved August 1, 2023, from https://www.ibanet.org/LPD/IP_Comm_Tech_Section/Art_Cultl_Inst_Heritage_Law/art-law-2020

¹⁶ Some Fine Art Cannot Be Exported From Canada—Export Controls & Trade & Investment Sanctions—Canada. (n.d.). Retrieved August 25, 2023, from https://www.mondaq.com/canada/export-controls--trade--investment-sanctions/805984/some-fine-art-cannot-be-exported-from-canada

The intellectual property laws in Canada are usually comprised of the Copyright Act and Trademarks Act, which provide legal protection for original artistic works and trademarks respectively. The Copyright Act in Canada grants artists and creators exclusive rights to reproduce, publish, and distribute their original works, including visual arts, they have to register their copyright with the Canadian Intellectual Property Office (Intellectual Property Rights in Canada, n.d.). The Trademarks Act provides legal protection for trademarks, which can include artist signatures or logos associated with their artworks and it also prohibits the unauthorized use or reproduction of these trademarks (Branch, 2021).

Furthermore, Canada has also different agencies and organizations that are currently proposing debates and discussions on the implementation of stricter regulations and policies to address art fraud. Organizations such as the Canadian Cultural Property Export Review Board that oversee the exportation of cultural property from Canada have been involved in discussions on how to combat art fraud.¹⁷

However, despite these measures, it is important to recognize that the current practices and regulations in Canada may have limitations in effectively preventing art fraud that is similar to the ones presented in Australia, such as the lack of specialized law enforcement units regarding art fraud and the absence of specific art crime laws.

4.1.3 United Kingdom

The United Kingdom has one of the biggest art markets in the world, with a revenue of \$11.9 billion in 2023 (Chesters, 2023.). However, despite its significant presence in the art market, the United Kingdom has faced challenges in addressing art fraud and implementing regulations to combat this issue. Some of the measures adopted in the United Kingdom to regulate art fraud include the creation of the Art Loss Register and the implementation of legislation such as the Fraud Act

¹⁷ About CCPERB | CCPERB. (n.d.). Retrieved August 25, 2023, from https://ccperb-cceebc.gc.ca/en/about-us/about.html

The Art Loss Register was founded in 1990 as a private database and register of stolen and missing art and antiques. ¹⁸ It is a voluntary initiative that allows art collectors, dealers, and law enforcement agencies to report and search for stolen artworks, it even allows for the registration of valuable pieces to deter potential thieves and fraudsters and recover items if they are found. The Register also facilitates their services to nation-states and law enforcement by not charging any fees and providing access to their database. ¹⁹This provides a valuable resource for tracking and identifying stolen artworks, helping to prevent their sale on the legitimate art market.

In addition, the Fraud Act of 2006 is legislation that was enacted in response to the growing concerns over fraud and its impact on various sectors, including the art market. Article 6 of the Fraud Act 2006 specifically addresses fraud by possessing any object that is known to be or reasonably suspected of being forged, including forged artworks. ²⁰Besides that, this legislation also covers offences such as making or supplying articles for use in fraud, participating in fraudulent business practices, and obtaining services dishonestly. ²¹ These measures provide a legal framework for prosecuting individuals who engage in art fraud and allow law enforcement agencies to act against those involved in the production, distribution, and sale of forged artworks. Nonetheless, none of the articles of the Fraud Act 2006 directly address fraud in the art market as a separate entity.

The Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 is another regulation in the United Kingdom that has implications for combating art fraud. This act sets out the powers and procedures for the police concerning criminal investigations, including the gathering of evidence by search and seizure and the handling of seized items.²² It allows law enforcement agencies to obtain search warrants and seize artworks suspected of being fraudulent, providing them with the authority to investigate and gather evidence. However, as with the other Acts and legislation that address art fraud, it does not specifically focus on art fraud as a separate entity but rather treats it as a form of fraud that falls under the scope of criminal activity.

¹⁸ About us – Art Loss Register. (n.d.). Retrieved August 26, 2023, from https://www.artloss.com/about-us/

¹⁹ Ibid

²⁰ Participation, E. (n.d.). Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 [Text]. Statute Law Database. Retrieved August 26, 2023, from https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1984/60/introduction

²¹ Ibid

²² Ibid

Additionally, some other measures in the United Kingdom can also be utilized to combat art fraud, mainly through the efforts of cultural institutions and organizations. As seen previously in the case of Canada and Australia, there are no specific laws or regulations in the United Kingdom that directly address art fraud as a separate entity so cultural organizations such as Arts Council England play a vital role in combating art fraud through their policies and initiatives of conducting due diligence in their acquisitions and trying to promote transparency within the art market.²³

Therefore, there is a need in Australia, Canada, and the United Kingdom to establish more comprehensive and specialized measures to address art fraud more effectively and this need is not set specifically for these countries but for the global art auction market as a whole. Current practices and regulations in Canada and Australia to prevent art fraud are primarily focused on applying existing laws related to fraud and misrepresentation to art-related cases instead of developing specialized laws and dedicated art crime units (Alder et al., 2011) (Nelson & Nelson, 2013). The United Kingdom also lacks regulations and guidelines specifically addressing art fraud and a regulating body to oversee the art auction market. In the next section, this study will delve into detail on the current practices adopted by auction houses to prevent art fraud.

4.2 Auction House Practices to Authenticate Artworks and their efficacy.

Art auction houses play a crucial role in the authentication process of artworks, as they are responsible for verifying the authenticity and provenance of the pieces they sell (Brodie, 2019). To ensure the integrity of the art market, auction houses employ a range of practices and procedures to authenticate artworks. One common method used by auction houses is conducting extensive research and investigation into the artwork's history and provenance and this involves examining previous ownership records, sales history, exhibition records,

²³ How we invest public money. (n.d.). Arts Council England. Retrieved August 26, 2023, from https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/how-we-invest-public-money

catalogue raisonnée and any available documentation related to the artwork. Auction houses may also consult experts, scholars, and art historians to gather further information and expertise about the artifact that they are verifying (Bandle, 2015).

However, the practices and procedures employed by these auction houses have limitations that can compromise the effectiveness of authentication. First, conducting extensive research and investigation into an artwork's history and provenance is primarily dependent on available documentation but sometimes historical records can be incomplete or unreliable, making it challenging for auction houses to obtain accurate information about an artwork's origins (Bandle, 2015). Additionally, relying solely on previous ownership records or sales history might overlook instances where fraudulent documents were created to establish false provenance (Bandle, 2015).

Moreover, consulting experts and scholars for additional information is subjective as opinions may differ among professionals with authenticity being a complex matter involving interpretation and expertise; therefore, even well-respected authorities can make mistakes or disagree with one another which can cause misjudgments during the authentication process (Fincham, 2017). Furthermore, despite having access to various resources like exhibition records or scholarly articles regarding specific works of art - such sources are not always readily available due to limited documentation or inadequate preservation efforts over time (Sakka et al., 2010).

Another important method employed by auction houses is the use of scientific techniques and technology to analyze and examine artworks. These methods are only possible since technology has been constantly evolving, they include infrared imaging, X-ray analysis, and chemical analysis of pigments and materials used in the artwork and provide valuable insights into the composition, age, and authenticity of the artwork (Sloggett, 2019). Auction houses also rely on the expertise and knowledge of their staff members, who are trained to identify art fraud indicators through visual inspection, especially in details such as brushwork, signatures, style, and consistency with the artist's body of work. On the other hand, some may argue in favor of cautiously using scientific techniques and technology in analyzing artworks as a method to prevent art fraud.²⁴

44

²⁴ Detecting Art Forgeries: What Scientific Methods Can We Use? (n.d.). FutureLearn. Retrieved August 1, 2023, from https://www.futurelearn.com/info/blog

While these methods may provide valuable insights into the composition, age, and authenticity of the artwork, they are not the only reliable method. ²⁵Scientific analysis can only go so far in determining an artwork's true value and significance since technology alone cannot replace human expertise and knowledge when it comes to identifying art fraud indicators. ²⁶ Visual inspection by knowledgeable staff members remains essential in uncovering subtle details that machines may miss such as the brushwork, signatures, and style - these aspects require subjective interpretation which a machine cannot fully replicate (Cole, 2016). Furthermore, there is always room for error or manipulation in scientific analysis results and forgers have become increasingly sophisticated in their methods of producing convincing fake artworks that evade detection even through advanced technological means such as infrared imaging or X-ray analysis (Hufnagel & Chappell, 2019).

To effectively combat art fraud, art auction houses need to employ a combination of scientific analysis, expert knowledge, and traditional art connoisseurship. This multifaceted approach allows for a thorough examination of artworks' authenticity and provides multilayered protection against fraudulent practices. By utilizing scientific techniques alongside the expertise of experienced professionals in the field, auction houses can minimize the risk

Regarding authentication processes within the art auction market, there is a new and emerging technology that has the potential to revolutionize the way authenticity is verified: blockchain. Blockchain can be defined as a new technology that integrates decentralization, distributed computation, asymmetric encryption, timestamp, and consensus algorithm (Blockchain State-of-the-Art: Architecture, Use Cases, Consensus, Challenges and Opportunities - ScienceDirect, n.d.). With blockchain, various security services like authentication, integrity assurance, and confidentiality can be automated, thereby resolving challenges faced by current art authentication techniques (Bhushan et al., 2021).

-

²⁵ Ibid

²⁶ Ibid

The use of blockchain within art auction houses' authentication processes offers several advantages, such as a secure and transparent chain of ownership record that ensures that every transaction and transfer of ownership is recorded and traceable. This chain of ownership record is crucial in the art auction market, where provenance and authenticity are highly valued attributes.

However, there are still some challenges to overcome in implementing blockchain within art auction houses' authentication processes. One challenge is the adoption and acceptance of blockchain technology within the art auction industry, while blockchain technology has gained popularity in various applications, including auctions, there may be resistance to its adoption within the art auction industry. Art auction houses may have concerns about the transparency and security of blockchain technology, as well as potential disruptions to existing authentication processes (Stublić et al., 2023).

Additionally, there may be a need for standardization and regulation in the use of blockchain within art authentication, it may require education and awareness campaigns to highlight the benefits and address any concerns or misconceptions. Therefore, art auction houses could profit from leveraging blockchain technology to enhance their authentication processes, ultimately boosting customer confidence and participation in the online auction market (Liang & Chi, 2021).

The benefits of blockchain would also extend to tracking and identifying stolen or looted artwork, as well as preventing the sale of such pieces in the art market. By providing a chain of ownership record that is dependent on the starting point of the blockchain record, blockchain technology can ensure the transparency and reliability of an artwork's provenance and authenticity (Shrimali, 2021). Additionally, the use of blockchain technology within art auction houses' authentication processes can enhance the security and privacy of transactions. By utilizing features such as information encryption and smart contracts, blockchain can automate the auction process without the need for deliberate intervention, ensuring the fairness and non-tampering of auction activities and results (Li & Xue, 2021).

By leveraging the decentralized and tamper-proof nature of blockchain, art auction houses can create a secure and transparent system for recording and verifying the ownership history of artworks. This system would not only enhance customer trust and enthusiasm for online auctions but also contribute to the overall integrity of the art market by preventing the sale of stolen or looted artwork.

In addition to blockchain technology, the use of image recognition software has been an innovative new method of recognizing forgery in the art market, utilizing computational tools and machine learning analysis to verify the authenticity of paintings (Polatkan et al., 2009). However, it is still a method that needs to be tested before becoming a staple in the process of authentication used by art auction houses.

In conclusion, there are several methods that art auction houses employ to be able to detect if an artwork is original. Provenance, documentation, scientific and technical analysis, blockchain and even software recognition are all used by these institutions to verify their objects, however, there are still several obstacles to each of these techniques and in the art auction market also presents as a challenge due to its global nature and constant evolution of fraudulent practices. In the next section, this study will delve into the lack of information and resources that prevent the full effectiveness of such authentication measures.

4.3 Lack of Information and Resources

Current preventive measures against art fraud include the implementation of rigorous authentication processes, the use of advanced technology such as blockchain and image recognition software, the establishment of international databases for stolen and looted artwork, and the training of art professionals to detect and identify fraudulent practices. These measures aim to prevent art fraud by ensuring the authenticity and provenance of artworks, as well as by providing tools and resources for identifying and recovering stolen artworks.

Evaluating these processes is crucial to determine their effectiveness in preventing art fraud and while there have been advancements in preventive measures against art fraud, there are still challenges and limitations to consider. A significant challenge in preventing art fraud

is the lack of information and resources available (Day, 2016). To be able to achieve considerable effectiveness in preventing art fraud, there is a need for comprehensive and up-to-date databases that document known cases of art fraud, forgeries, and stolen artworks and while the establishment of such databases is a step in the right direction, but there is still a need for a unified system that can track and verify the authenticity of artworks from their creation to their current ownership.

This lack of information and resources can make it difficult for art institutions, particularly smaller ones, and those in emerging markets, to implement comprehensive preventive measures against art fraud and effectively authenticate artworks. Furthermore, the cost associated with implementing these preventive measures can also be a challenge for many institutions, smaller art institutions or auction houses usually do not possess regular private donors or significant amounts of government funding to sustain expensive technology methods to provide authenticity (Renz, 2003).

Additionally, there is also a lack of resources that extends to law enforcement agencies and regulatory bodies responsible for investigating and prosecuting art fraud, since there are no specified departments dedicated solely to dealing with art fraud in many countries. Moreover, as was mentioned in section 4.1, the current legal system in many countries may not have provisions or specific regulations that address the complexities of art fraud, making it challenging to prosecute offenders and effectively prevent art fraud.

Another factor that contributes to this lack of information and resources is the prevalence of underreported art crimes. Many art crimes go unreported due to a variety of reasons, such as the victims' reluctance to come forward, fear of negative publicity that would affect the price of their artworks, the fact that sometimes the crime goes undetected or even the perception that art crimes are not a high priority for law enforcement agencies as it is often perceived as a "victimless crime." (Mazurek, 2019)

Therefore, the current practices and regulations need to be reanalyzed to prevent the occurrence of a wide range of art fraud. To highlight the need for stricter regulations and prevention measures against art fraud, it is crucial to acknowledge and make known some

specific case studies that demonstrate that this type of crime is present and detrimental to the art market.

Chapter 5: Case Studies

The central aim of this section is to present a series of case studies, each selected to offer insights into the world of art fraud within the art auction market. These case studies are essential to uncover the occasions when art fraud has happened and the consequences it has on the market while also exploring the interplay between authenticity and art in this complex marketplace. By delving into these cases, this study aims to provide a nuanced and comprehensive understanding of the multifaceted nature of art fraud within the context of art auctions.

The objectives of these case studies are to seek to elucidate the specific instances in which art fraud has unfolded within the art auction market. By analyzing these occurrences, we aim to discern the tactics and strategies employed by art fraudsters, shedding light on their methods and the vulnerabilities they exploit within the art market. Besides that, these case studies offer a closer examination of the profound consequences that art fraud has had, not only on affected buyers but also on the broader integrity and reputation of the art market as a whole.

Lastly, the analysis of these cases provides a valuable perspective that explores the essential role that trust plays within the art market. By analyzing these case studies, we aim to highlight the intricate relationship between trust and the art market, ultimately contributing to a more comprehensive grasp of the challenges and intricacies surrounding art fraud.

5.1 Joe Simon Whelan vs. The Andy Warhol Foundation

In 1989, British filmmaker Joe Simon-Whelan acquired Andy Warhol's painting, *Self Portrait* (Fig 3) for \$150,000. This particular artwork was part of a series consisting of ten portraits created in 1965 using acetate separations, similar to the renowned 1964 *Self Portrait*, which had been sold at Sotheby's auction house in 2006 for an impressive amount of \$3.7 million (Taylor Swain, 2009).

The subsequent resale of this painting marked the beginning of a three-year-long lawsuit against the Andy Warhol Foundation in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, which incurred costs exceeding \$7 million dollars for all parties involved (Taylor Swain, 2009). Through this case study, we explore the complexities of authentication boards and their impact on art ownership and value within the auction market domain.



Figure 3. Andy Warhol. (1965). Self Portrait (Red). Retrieved from: https://www.theguardian.com/artanddesign/2009/dec/04/andy-warhol-red-portraits-fake

Upon acquiring the painting, Whelan asserted that it had previously undergone authentication by Fred Hughs, an appointed executor of Warhol's estate and an esteemed member of the Andy Warhol Foundation. However, subsequent to his purchase, Whelan discloses that Hughs prompted him to undertake further verification of the authenticity of the Warhol artwork. Once he consented to this additional authentication process, he discovered in 2001 that the foundation board deemed it non-authentic and rejected its validity. Consequently, Hughes advised him to make another attempt at certification through Andy Warhol's catalogue raisonnée. In 2003, his painting received a "double denial" stamp from the Andy Warhol Art Authentication (Taylor Swain, 2009).

As a consequence, this "double denial" could potentially harm his ability to sell the artwork as originally intended, with an estimated value of \$2 million in auction (Lacy, 2011). As a result, he decided to sue the Andy Warhol Foundation on the basis of violating American

Antitrust Laws. The American antitrust laws are comprised of three laws that are still present in the American legislative system and are essential to maintain equilibrium in the trade market. In 1890, the first antitrust law was presented: the Sherman Act, which prohibits any form of restraint on trade or monopolistic practices that could harm competition in the market. The Sherman Act aims to promote fair competition and prevent the concentration of economic power on the hands of a few entities. In addition, it prohibits any agreements or practices that would limit competition or create monopolies in the market. The fines applied to this act are significant, with penalties of up to \$100 million for corporations and \$1 million for individuals, as well as the possibility of imprisonment (The Antitrust Laws, Federal Trade Commission, n.d.).

In 1914, two more antitrust laws integrated the Sherman Act into the Antitrust laws. The first is the Federal Trade Commission Act (FTC), which serves as a regulatory body to enforce antitrust laws and promote fair competition in the market; it also prohibits unfair methods of competition and deceptive acts or practices that violate the FTC Act, resulting in possible civil penalties and enforcement actions. The second law introduced is the Clayton Act, which was set to prevent and punish the practices of mergers and acquisitions that would lead to a significant reduction in market competition. In addition to that, the Clayton Act prohibits anticompetitive practices such as price discrimination and exclusive dealing arrangements. These antitrust laws play a crucial role in ensuring fair competition and preventing monopolistic practices in the US market (The Antitrust Laws, Federal Trade Commission, n.d.).

The lawsuit filed by Whelan's legal team is based on the alleged violation of the Sherman Act, specifically regarding monopolistic practices and trade restraint, as outlined in American antitrust laws (Lacy, 2011). Simon-Whelan accused the Andy Warhol Foundation of engaging in actions that harmed competition within the art auction market and contributed to a monopolistic environment. Specifically, he alleges that the decision to deny authentication for *Self Portrait* (1965) was predetermined prior to submitting the artwork for evaluation, effectively restricting competition by limiting the availability of authentic Warhol artworks for sale.

Whelan also alleged that several other paintings from the 1965 series were deemed inauthentic by the board without sufficient justification. Furthermore, Whelan suggests that the foundation may intentionally attract potential Warhol collectors with the aim of later changing their decision on authenticity to align with their own financial interests. Comparatively, the art collector Richard Ekstract has reported encountering similar issues with the Andy Warhol Foundation's authentication board in 2022. Specifically, when attempting to sell Self Portrait (red) (Fig. 3), a piece from the same 1965 series gifted personally by Andy Warhol himself, Ekstract faced rejection as the foundation claimed that it was not an authentic work by Warhol (Widewalls, 2022).

Despite the rejection of authentication by the foundation, which claimed that the artwork was not an original Warhol piece, Ekstract sought validation from Richard Polsky, an expert in post-World War II American Art. Based on Polsky's confirmation of its authenticity, Ekstract made the decision to proceed with auctioning the artwork. Even though it lacked official authentication from the Andy Warhol Foundation and carried a relatively low estimated price range of \$500,000-\$700,000 (Widewalls, 2022), there is limited information available regarding whether or not Ekstract successfully sold it at auction.

Additionally, Whelan argued that the Andy Warhol Authentication Board functions as a monopoly within the Warhol art market because of its exclusive authority to determine the authenticity of his artworks (Taylor Swain, 2009). This monopolistic power grants the board control over pieces that are recognized as genuine and thus valuable, resulting in an unfair advantage in the auction market by limiting competition. As there are no alternative sources for authenticating Warhol's artworks, the board effectively holds sway over the market and exerts considerable influence on prices and demand for his pieces.

The case proposed by Whelan was not the only instance of questioning the decision-making process and transparency of the Andy Warhol Authentication Board. Collector Susan Shaer also filed a lawsuit regarding a painting from the same series of self-portraits in 1965, which was deemed to be inauthentic by the board (Warhol Foundation Accused of Defacing

Art, n.d.). Additionally, there have been other cases either settled or dismissed because of insufficient evidence or legal standing. What sets apart Whelan's case from previous challenges to the Andy Warhol Authentication Board is his argument about commercial interests influencing board decisions that could violate American antitrust laws, as well as his determination and financial resources to continue with this lawsuit (Lacy, 2011).

In 2010, Whelan settled in his prolonged legal battle against the Andy Warhol Authentication Board. As part of the agreement, Whelan acknowledged that the foundation did not participate in any fraudulent or illegal activities pertaining to the sale and authentication of Andy Warhol artworks. Despite lacking sufficient funds to continue with the lawsuit, Whelan alleged that the Warhol Foundation had "a 20-year scheme of fraud, collusion, and manipulation." (Lacy, 2011)

The Andy Warhol Foundation refuted any allegations of misconduct and contested that the *Self Portrait* painting submitted for authentication was actually produced by a commercial printer who allegedly had no direct connection with Andy Warhol himself (Lacy, 2011). In addition to reaching a settlement and engaging in a protracted legal battle, the Warhol Foundation decided to dismiss members of its Authentication Board in 2011. Nonetheless, as highlighted by the Richard Ekstract case, similar challenges regarding authentication would continue to be significant concerns for the newly appointed Authentication Board at the Andy Warhol Foundation.

Therefore, it is essential to analyze the repercussions of the Simon Whelan vs. Andy Warhol Authentication Board and its implications for authentication procedures in the art auction market. This case sheds light on numerous issues concerning the trustworthiness of the artist foundation's authentication boards and their impact on the art auction market. As we can see in the case of Simon-Whelan vs. the Andy Warhol Authentication Board, Whelan alleges that the Foundation made decisions influenced by commercial interests, raising concerns about the integrity and impartiality of the authentication process. Other artist foundations have faced similar allegations, such as the Jackson Pollock Authentication Board, the Mark Rothko Authentication Board and the Basquiat Committee and all of these cases raise questions about the objectivity and credibility of these authentication boards (Kennedy, 2005).

Why would these foundations prioritize commercial interests over the integrity of the authentication process? As the art auction market relies on trust and credibility, it is important to address these issues and question the potential conflicts of interest that may arise within artist foundations and their authentication boards. The foundations have an interest in maximizing the value and marketability of the artworks associated with the artist, which may lead to decisions that prioritize commercial gain. If there are fewer authenticated artworks in the market, the value of the authenticated pieces might increase, thereby increasing the potential profits for the foundation and the artists' estates.

Consequently, the authenticity of artworks becomes a complex issue, as it is not solely based on the specificities of the artwork itself, but also influenced by external factors such as the commercial interests of artist foundations. Therefore, the question that remains is how to ensure the integrity of the authentication process and mitigate potential conflicts of interest within artist foundations and their authentication boards.

To ensure that the authentication process occurs in a fair and unbiased manner, it is necessary to establish clear guidelines and standards for the operation of artist foundations and their authentication boards such that the interests of commercial gain do not override the integrity of the authentication process. It is fundamental for these boards to maintain transparency throughout their operations and decision-making processes by implementing open and clear protocols for the authentication of artworks that are accessible to individuals seeking authentication.

Furthermore, it is crucial to involve independent experts, such as art historians, curators, and conservators in the authentication process to reduce the influence of commercial interests and ensure a more objective evaluation of the artwork (Hufnagel & Chappell, 2019). If only members of the artist foundation or individuals with a direct interest in the commercial success of the artist's work are involved in the authentication process, it increases the likelihood of biased decision-making to favor the commercial interests of the foundation rather than the accuracy and integrity of the authentication. In addition, artists' foundations should consider a system of checks and balances within their authentication boards to prevent conflicts of interest through the use of external auditors or oversight committees.

In conclusion, it is possible to affirm through the analysis of cases such as Simon Whelan vs. Andy Warhol Authentication Board that the commercial interests of artist foundations can impact the authentication process and raise concerns about the integrity of the process and how easily the art auction market can be manipulated. This shows that the art auction market is characterized by its lack of transparency and potential conflicts of interest, which can undermine the credibility of the authentication process (Cheong, 2021).

The monopoly on authentication of these artist foundations damages the art industry and the artists themselves. The industry is affected by a lack of transparency and competition in the authentication process, which limits access to authenticating artwork to only a few select organizations, while the artist's legacy is controlled and defined by these foundations.

Throughout this case study, it becomes evident that the authentication process for artworks is not a definitive and objective procedure and that artists' foundations and their authentication boards need to implement clear guidelines, involve independent experts, and establish checks and balances to ensure transparency and integrity in the authentication process and to address concerns about possible manipulation of the art auction market.

5.2 Ponzi Scheme: The Case of Larry Salander

A Ponzi Scheme is a fraudulent investment scheme where the operator promises high returns for investors by using funds from new investors to pay off earlier investors in a pyramid-like structure. This specific case study has been named an illegal Ponzi art fraud scheme by one of the creditors involved in the Larry Salander scandal that collapsed Salander-O'Reilly Galleries.

Larry Salander is a well-known player in the art world market, an art dealer who specializes in the work of the old masters and who without much of a proper upper-level education managed to open one of the biggest and most affluent art galleries in New York, called Sallander O' Reilly Gallery, located within an expensive position in the city, at Madison Avenue. Salander came from a middle-class Jewish family and thrived in the art world without many qualifications, he started off by working in a specialized antique shop and from there he would make the connections necessary to start collecting and selling artworks. Later on, he would open his gallery and it would continue to be a reference in the market for at least 40 years, with the selling of his artworks proportionating a lavishing lifestyle with multiple properties and even private jets (Panero, 2008).

Salander had charisma and storytelling qualities which made him an excellent seller and provided him with a number of famous clients who entrusted their whole collection to him, such as Robert de Niro Sr. and Stuart Davis (Panero, 2008). According to Ann Freedman, the gallery owner of Knoedler & Co which would later be sued for similar art fraud reasons, Salander had a magnetic way to attract people (Panero, 2008).

Even though he kept being a successful art dealer and gallery owner, the art market started to change its trends and contemporary and post-war art were being considered much more valuable than the works of old masters, with a Warhol piece reaching double the price of a Tintoretto painting.

This change in the art market would deeply affect Salander, who considered the work of the Renaissance to be superior to the ones presented through contemporary art and he took it upon himself the task of preserving and promoting the art of the old masters. In order to reach his goals, Salander first rented an old Italian Renaissance palace so that he could expand his collection of old masters and establish his gallery as a premier destination for admiring and purchasing these works (Pilkington, 2009). Through the purchase of several 16th and 17th-century artworks, he started to build a reputation as a prominent dealer in the field of old masters. However, the cost of rent for this palace and the acquisition of so many artworks strained his finances and he had to close his first establishment at Madison Avenue so that he would be able to afford the palace's rent (Press, 2010).

It can be observed that his ambition to rent this palace and buy numerous old master artworks was a crucial turning point in Salander's career. Since his financial situation was getting critically worse and he needed to generate significant income, Salander resorted to taking loans from different individuals and financial institutions, one of them being Jack Binion, owner of Binion's Horseshoe Casino in Las Vegas and with a family history in the gambling industry (Haslach, 2014). The decision to take loans from individuals and financial institutions, including Jack Binion, marked a pivotal moment in Salander's career as he struggled to pay his debts and keep up with the demands of his lavish lifestyle and business endeavors.

This financial struggle would eventually lead Salander to engage in fraudulent activities and in 2007 several of the artists he represented, states, collectors and investors were accusing him of misappropriating funds, not paying them for works that were sold and even misrepresenting provenance. His debt would total amount to almost \$100 million and after the initial accusations were out in the media, many more of his clients came forward with claims of fraud and deceit Davis (Panero, 2008). Earl Davis, the son of artist Stuart Davis, was one of the individuals who filed a lawsuit against Salander, alleging that he had sold his father's artwork without properly compensating or consulting the artist's estate. Besides that, Robert De Niro would also file against Salander, claiming that he had been defrauded of millions of dollars for artworks his father had made and that were consigned to Salander for sale (Pilkington, 2009).

Following the public accusations, numerous individuals initiated legal action against Salander. For instance, Salander's longtime partner Myron Kunin expressed in court that his trust and confidence had been betrayed by Salander's failure to fulfil a \$7 million purchase of a Georgia O'Keeffe painting. Arthur Carter, the former New York Observer publisher who previously showcased his sculptures with Salander, filed a lawsuit seeking \$1.2 million as repayment for loans that turned sour. Stanley Moss, another art dealer, secured a \$1 million judgment against Salander for unpaid purchases.

Additionally, Roy Lennox from Caxton Associates hedge-fund company sued - seeking both monetary reimbursement of \$4.6 million and punitive damages worth an additional \$10 million- alleging various illicit practices including attempting to settle debts through questionable attribution of artworks and Lennox was the one that referred to the entire spectrum of transactions involving Salander as an illegal Ponzi Scheme (Panero, 2008).

In an attempt to make the rumors regarding his fraudulent activities disappear, he started planning in 2007 an exhibition entitled "Masterpieces of Art: Five Centuries of Creation" in which artists such as Caravaggio, Rembrandt, and Vermeer would showcase in this huge exhibition of rare and valuable artworks. It was while the organization of this exhibition was underway that collector Clovis Whitfield would bring to Salander-O'Reilly Gallery a painting entitled *Apollo the Lute Player* (Fig. 4) which had been sold previously in auction at Sotheby's for less than a million dollars as a work made within the inner circle of Caravaggio's circle. Nonetheless, Whitfield hired the services of an Italian Art Specialist called Sir Denis Mahon who confirmed that the artwork was in fact a genuine Caravaggio piece (Experts at Odds over Painting's Pedigree, n.d.).



Figure 4. Michelangelo Merisi da Caravaggio. (c. 1595). *The Lute Player*. [Oil on Canvas]. State Hermitage Museum, Saint Petersburg, Russia.

With the emergence of this authenticated Caravaggio painting in his possession, Salander saw an opportunity to put this piece to be exhibited and later sell it for \$100 million to generate significant profits and bolster his art business whilst changing art market trends by reaching a higher price for an old master artwork instead of contemporary pieces (Haslach, 2014). However, his plans to make the "Masterpieces of Art" exhibition happen were marred by legal and financial issues.

One of his creditors, Donald Schupak, filed a lawsuit to seek the repayment of his loans and to restrain Whitfield's control over the gallery assets (Press, 2010). Through the scandals that were happening, Whitfield removed all the artworks he had loaned for the exhibitions including the Caravaggio piece. "Masterpieces of Art: Five Centuries of Creation" was cancelled due to a lack of financial backing and the ongoing legal battles surrounding Salander's fraudulent activities and the gallery was closed down due to a court order (Panero, 2008).

Therefore, after this scandal and the subsequent closure of the Salander-O'Reilly Gallery, Larry Salander filed for personal bankruptcy under Chapter Eleven of the United States Bankruptcy Code. Chapter 11 of the American Bankruptcy Code allows individuals to

reorganize their debts and develop a plan to repay creditors over time which would allow them to alleviate some of their financial burdens and potentially regain control over their assets (Chapter 11 - Bankruptcy Basics, United States Courts, n.d.). Salander would plead guilty to 29 counts of securities fraud, grand larceny, and scheming to defraud and was sentenced to serve a prison term of eighteen years, during the court hearings he would also admit to falsifying provenance records and selling paintings without proper authorization (Haslach, 2014).

The Ponzi art fraud scheme orchestrated by Larry Salander serves as a case study highlighting the intricate web of deception and manipulation that can occur within the art auction market. The issue surrounding Salander revolves around the matter of trust within the art auction market with varying interpretations of his actions, with some individuals expressing their disapproval of Salander's behavior. For example, Ellyn Shander recounts how her late father's collection, worth an estimated \$2 million, was entrusted to Salander for safekeeping but never returned to her: "Larry Salander took that which is the essence of the art world -- relationships -- and violated it in the worst possible way," (Press, 2010) contrary to some arguments, it can be suggested that the intention behind Lawrence Salander's actions was to promote misrepresented artworks and revitalize appreciation for old masters. A long-time artist represented by Salander, Paul Resika, expressed his perspective on the matter: "he did great exhibitions that I consider a very high and moral thing to do. He did tremendous things for art." (Press, 2010).

This case raises important questions about the lack of transparency and accountability within the art market and highlights the potential risks faced by investors and collectors. The selling of artworks is often based on trust and reputation, with many of the selling agreements made through informal verbal agreements that are not legally binding.

This lack of transparency is a common trait of the fine art market and potentiallyizes the risk of fraud and art crimes occurring. It also puts into question the authenticity and ownership of artworks within the market, especially through the forgery of provenance records. If the selling agreements are only based on trust and not legally binding, it creates a loophole that can be criminally exploited by dealers and sellers.

As well as being a financial crime that affects investors and the market itself, the unauthorized sale and misrepresentation of artworks also have significant implications for the collectors and art enthusiasts who trust their pieces to be safely stored and cared for by reputable dealers. Several times these individuals, like Ellyn Shander, have seen their valuable artworks disappear, never to be returned and many of them have a deep emotional attachment to these pieces, as they may hold sentimental value or be passed down through generations (Press, 2010).

As a recurrent theme in the art world, the lack of transparency and of regulated transaction processes needs to be addressed as it becomes an inefficient market for both investors and collectors in the art market and hinders the growth and potential of the industry as a whole (David et al., 2013). Art galleries and art institutions need to establish strict guidelines and regulations to ensure transparency and accountability in the buying and selling of artwork so that potential fraud and art crimes can be prevented.

In conclusion, the presence of a lack of transparency in the fine art market is an urgent concern that presents substantial risks to both investors and collectors. As exemplified by the noteworthy case involving Lawrence Salander, the absence of legally binding agreements and reliance on trust within this market creates a loophole that can be exploited by dishonest dealers. This not only results in financial harm for investors but also undermines the integrity and authenticity of the artworks themselves. Furthermore, the Salander case also highlights the larger issue of white-collar crime within the art industry in which fraudulent activities such as selling copies of artworks, tax fraud, and dealing in looted cultural objects are prevalent.

These cases are not isolated incidents, but rather indicative of a larger systemic issue within the art industry, as can be seen through the Knoedler Gallery scandal and other similar cases. Therefore, it is crucial for stakeholders in the art market, including galleries, institutions, and regulatory bodies, to collaborate and establish stringent guidelines and regulations that promote transparency, accountability, and ethical practices.

5.3 Yves Bouvier vs Dimitri Rybolovlev - Trust within an Artwork Transaction

The case of Yves Bouvier vs. Dimitri Rybolovlev is a complex and intricate case that revolves around trust within an artwork transaction. To better understand the dynamics at play, it is important to briefly discuss both Yves Bouvier and Dimitri Rybolovlev, as well as the nature of the artwork transaction between them.

Yves Bouvier is a Swiss art dealer who started his career in the late 1980s and has since gained a reputation as one of the most prominent figures in the international art market. Bouvier is known for his role as an art dealer and intermediary, connecting buyers and sellers in high-value art transactions while also owning freeport businesses around the world to store and showcase art collections. His freeport company is called Natural Le Coultre, and it serves as a secure storage facility for valuable artworks (Knight, 2016).

Freeports that have warehouses companies such as Natural Le Coultre, located in Switzerland, Luxembourg and Shanghai, provide high-security storage facilities for art collectors and dealers, offering services such as climate control, on-site conservation, and restoration, as well as expertise in import-export procedures and customs regulations (Knight, 2016) Besides that, freeports are also a tax-free zone, allowing collectors to store their artworks without incurring taxes or duties until they decide to bring them into a specific country (Zarobell, 2020).

Bouvier met Dimitri Rybolovlev, a Russian billionaire and owner of AS Monaco Football Club, in the early 2000s. Through their interactions, trust was established between them, leading to multiple art transactions over the years and also a relationship that extended beyond business. Dimitri Rybolovlev is considered one of the wealthiest individuals in Russia, with significant investments and interests in various industries, including finance and mining (Bregman, 2019). However, he did not possess knowledge regarding the art market but had a desire to build an art collection that would represent his status and personal taste.

Therefore, through the connection with Bouvier, Rybolovlev relied on Bouvier's expertise and trusted his judgment in acquiring valuable artworks for his collection (Bregman, 2019).

From that moment forward, Bouvier and Rybolovlev engaged in a series of art transactions. The contract between them was signed throughout the selling of the first artworks with Bouvier asking for a 2% commission on the purchase price as his fee for locating and acquiring the artworks. Nonetheless, during these transactions, Bouvier charged more than the 2% commission they had previously agreed on since he argued that he was an art dealer so his commission rate could be more flexible and based on market conditions (Knight, 2016).

To gain a comprehensive understanding of this case study, it is crucial to provide further elucidation on certain terms, notably the distinctions between an art dealer and an art advisor. An art dealer refers to either an individual or a company engaged in the buying and selling of artworks, often serving as intermediaries between artists, collectors, and galleries (Bambic, 2015). Typically specializing in specific genres or periods of art, art dealers typically charge commissions ranging from 30% to 60% within the primary market. As for commissions in the secondary market, they can exhibit significant variations depending on mutually agreed-upon terms between dealers and buyers/sellers; however, percentages generally hover around 5% for artworks exceeding one million dollars and may reach up to 20% for those valued below that threshold (Custodio, 2020).

Art advisors, on the other hand, offer their expertise and guidance to clients who seek to develop or enhance their art collections. They are bound by a fiduciary duty to act in the best interests of their clients and provide impartial advice while upholding ethical standards (Océane, 2023). Furthermore, the level of commission they receive typically ranges from 20% for artworks valued under one million dollars to 5% for those valued above that threshold. This narrower commission range is attributed to the role art advisors play as consultants rather than direct participants in purchasing and selling transactions (Océane, 2023).

Several artworks were purchased by Bouvier to be sold to Rybolovlev, and it is possible to observe through the selling prices established by Yves Bouvier that the commission agreed with the Russian billionaire was not adhered to. Some of the artworks include works by Gustav Klimt, Mark Rothko, Leonardo da Vinci, and Pablo Picasso. All of these were sold for prices significantly higher than the agreed commission rate (Bregman, 2019) (See Table 1).

Artwork	Artist	Acquisition	Purchase	Selling Price	Final
		Date	Price		Commission
Flute Player	Pablo Picasso	2010	\$3.5 million	\$25 million	86%
and Naked					
Woman					
Reclining	Amadeo	2012	\$93.5 million	\$118 million	20.7%
Nude with	Modigliani				
Blue Cushion					
Water	Gustav Klimt	2013	\$112 million	\$183.3	38.8%
Serpents II				million	
Salvator	Leonardo Da	2013	\$80 million	\$127.5	37,2%
Mundi	Vinci			million	
N°6 (violet,	Mark Rothko	2014	\$80.5 million	\$140 million	42.5%
green, and					
red)					

Table 1: Artworks sold by Yves Bouvier to Dimitri Rybolovlev and how much was his actual commission.

Their dispute would extend to the courts of Switzerland, Monaco, France, Singapore, Hong Kong, and the United States of America. The lawsuit first started in December of 2014 when Dmitri Rybolovlev found out that Yves Bouvier had sold him an Amadeo Modigliani called *Nude on a blue cushion* for the price of \$118 million, while Bouvier had acquired the painting for only \$93 million, thus making a profit of \$25 million, which would make his

commission almost 20% higher than the agreed 2% (Knight, 2016).

In January 2015, Rybolovlev filed a lawsuit in Monaco alleging that Bouvier had engaged in fraudulent practices by inflating the prices of the artworks and that his actions had cost him at least \$1 billion in monetary losses. In the subsequent month, Bouvier gets arrested by the Monaco authorities on charges of fraud and money laundering, but he is later released on a \$10 million bail (Dafoe, 2020).

The Singaporean High Court ruled to freeze his assets in Singapore, where he possesses multiple properties and one of his freeport warehouse facilities. His case in the Singaporean court unfroze his assets, but the legal battle continued as Bouvier appealed that the case should be discussed in Switzerland, his country of citizenship, and the Singaporean Court of Appeal agreed, stating that the case should be heard in Switzerland (French Press, 2014).

Nonetheless, this did not mark the end of their legal dispute, since Rybolovlev obtained a Mareva Injunction against Bouvier from Hong Kong's High Court (Leach et al., 2015). A Mareva Injunction is a court order that freezes a person's assets to prevent them from dissipating or disposing of their wealth during legal proceedings (Mareva Injunction, n.d.). However, Bouvier's assets were unfrozen after he came into an agreement with companies that were linked to Rybolovlev that allowed for the release of his assets.

In 2018, a \$380 million lawsuit was filed by Dimitri Rybolovlev's company, Accent Delight International Limited in the Manhattan Federal Court, against the auction house Sotheby's, alleging that Sotheby's knew about the overinflated prices set by Yves Bouvier and facilitated the fraudulent transactions (*Accent Delight Int'l Ltd. v. Sotheby's & Sotheby's Inc.*, 18-CV-9011, n.d.). Rybolovlev claims that Sotheby's intentionally provided inflated appraisals to Bouvier enabling him to purchase the works for less and sell them at the auction house's inflated estimates (*Accent Delight Int'l Ltd. v. Sotheby's & Sotheby's Inc.*, 18-CV-9011, n.d.). Through these actions, Bouvier was able to conceal actual acquisition prices from Rybolovlev. Sotheby had been the mediator on the sales of 14 out of the 28 artworks that were involved in the dispute between Yves Bouvier and Dimitri Rybolovlev, such as the

painting *Salvator Mundi* by Leonardo da Vinci (Fig. 4), which Bouvier acquired from Sotheby's for \$80 million and sold it to Rybolovlev for \$127.5 million (Kent, 2021).



Figure 5. Leonardo da Vinci. (c. 1500). Salvator Mundi. [oil on walnut wood]. Retrieved from: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/File:Leonardo_da_Vinci,_Salvator_Mundi,_c.1500,_oil_on_walnut,_45.4_%C3 %97_65.6_cm.jpg

The *Salvator Mundi* painting is a particularly interesting and controversial piece in this case study and also in the question of authenticity. The painting has been a point of discussion within the art world, with debates surrounding its attribution to Leonardo da Vinci since at first the painting had not been attributed to the artist and after scientific analysis and restoration, it was declared to be a work produced by Leonardo da Vinci. However, many experts still question the authenticity of the painting, citing inconsistencies in style and technique, and the work is often attributed to Leonardo's workshop (Brinkhof, 2022).

In addition to that, the painting has been considered missing since it was acquired by the Saudi Arabian Prince Bader bin Abdullah bin Mohammed bin Farhan al-Saud for \$450 million in a Christie's auction and it has not been publicly displayed or seen since its purchase in 2017 (Schachter, 2019). After its auction at Christie's, it became the most expensive painting to ever be sold in the history of art auctions (Masterworks, 2022).

The controversy surrounding the Salvator Mundi painting still continues, since the digital platform ElmonX and the imaging company Bridgeman Images came together with a deal to turn *Salvator Mundi* and other paintings into NFTs (non-fungible tokens), which sparked further debates on the authentication and ownership of the artwork (Aton, 2023).

The New York South District Court ordered in 2019 that the sigil between emails exchanged through, at the time the vice president of Sotheby's, Samuel Valette, and Yves Bouvier regarding the sale of artworks should be unsealed. Through the exchange of these emails, it was possible to see that the prices had been coordinated by Bouvier and Valette to mislead Rybolovlev, resulting in inflated purchase prices. Therefore, the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York applied articles 1 and 3rd of the 18th of March 1970 Hague Convention. According to Article 1 of the Hague Convention, in countries that are parties to the Convention, it is possible for other participating countries to request relevant documents for commercial or civil transactions (Convention on Jurisdiction and the Recognition and Enforcement of Judgments in Civil and Commercial Matters, 2007). Additionally, Article 3 of the Hague Convention outlines that judicial authorities in the country where these documents are located should aid in obtaining and transmitting them as specified (Convention on Jurisdiction and the Recognition and Enforcement of Judgments in Civil and Commercial Matters, 2007).

At the New York District Court, a letter of request was submitted to the International judicial assistance to obtain evidence from Yves Bouvier for official use in the civil proceeding currently pending before the New York South District Court. In 2015, the case filed by Dimitri Rybolovlev against Sotheby's was dropped due to a lack of evidence. (*Accent Delight Int'l Ltd. v. Sotheby's & Sotheby's Inc., 18-CV-9011*, n.d.)

Besides the New York, Monaco, and Hong Kong lawsuits, Rybolovlev also attempted to file against Sotheby's for a motion in the United Kingdom (*Russian Billionaire Rybolovlev Sues Sotheby's for \$380m in Fraud Damages*, n.d.). However, there was already a counterlawsuit filed in Switzerland by Sotheby's and Yves Bouvier for financial damages against

Rybolovev. Since the Lugano Convention denies multiple lawsuits among convention members (Norway, Switzerland, Iceland, the UK, and Denmark), the case in the United Kingdom was dismissed, under the Article 23 of the Lugano Convention, which states that:

If the parties, one or more of whom is domiciled in a State bound by this Convention, have agreed that a court or the courts of a State bound by this Convention are to have jurisdiction to settle any disputes which have arisen or which may arise in connection with a particular legal relationship, that court or those courts shall have jurisdiction.

(Article 23 § 1, Lugano Convention, 2007)

Since Yves Bouvier was domiciled in Switzerland, which the Lugano Convention binds, and the agreement between Sotheby's and Bouvier stipulated that the courts in Switzerland would settle any disputes, the case in the United Kingdom was dismissed based on the jurisdiction clause specified in the Lugano Convention (Carrigan, 2018).

In 2015, all cases pertaining to Dimitri Rybolovlev's allegations against Yves Bouvier and Sotheby's were dismissed due to insufficient evidence in multiple courts including the New York District Court, Monaco, Hong Kong, Switzerland, and the attempted case in the United Kingdom conditions (Knight, 2016). However, a recent development has occurred as Rybolovlev has appealed against the decision of the Geneva Court leading to a reopening of the investigation. As of now, the case remains pending in Geneva (Kinsella, 2022). Furthermore, Yves Bouvier has filed a countersuit for billion-dollar damages alleging harm done to his business and reputation. The legal proceedings for this countersuit are still ongoing (Miller, 2017).

There is no evidence that the legal battle between Yves Bouvier and Dimitri Rybolovlev will be solved amicably shortly. Different considerations need to be addressed when analyzing this case study and an important perspective is to consider both their defenses regarding the contract dispute and the selling and buying of artworks.

Rybolovlev has accused Bouvier of overcharging him for the artwork, with a commission that was not the 2% agreed between both parties but instead, a significantly higher percentage. Yves Bouvier argues that he was acting as an art dealer and not an advisor, therefore the agreed commission does not apply.

Consequently, it is necessary to further delve into the implications of not having a written contract in this transaction, which could have potentially prevented or clarified any misunderstandings regarding the agreed commission percentage. In the art auction market, the practice of verbal agreements is commonly used within the art industry, but it is a risk for both the seller and the buyer. Verbal agreements can easily lead to misinterpretations or disagreements, as there is no concrete evidence of the terms and conditions agreed upon by either party. As shown in the case of Yves Bouvier and Dimitri Rybolovlev, the absence of a written contract has created ambiguity and allowed for conflicting interpretations of the agreed commission percentage, which has been a major point of contention in this case. If the contract is only made by verbal agreements there can be many potential issues that arise such as unclear terms, misconceptions of the agreement and the lack of a clear record of the agreed-upon terms. Therefore, it is crucial that in art transactions detailed written contracts are established to ensure clarity and prevent potential disputes.

In addition to that, the roles of freeports as places of storage can be critically questioned in this case study. The use of freeports as places of storage in the art world has raised doubts regarding the transparency and accountability of these locations (Zarobell, 2020). These facilities are known for their confidentiality and security levels but also for their potential for facilitating illicit activities such as money laundering and tax evasion (Zarobell, 2020). Freeports also bring forward the question of accessibility to and control over artworks stored within them, since some of these artworks stored in freeports may not be easily accessible to the public due to their restricted access policies. Access to these artworks can be limited only to a select few, which raises concerns about inclusivity and the public's ability to appreciate and engage with art that at times is an essential part of their cultural heritage.

Furthermore, the use of freeports in art transactions highlights the larger issue of financial credibility within the contemporary art market. This trend reveals a darker aspect

of contemporary art's economic standing, specifically its capacity to secure liquidity and transport it across international borders without being subjected to taxation on capital transfer (Zarobell, 2020). The internal dynamics of the modern art community have contributed to this phenomenon due to the decreasing of non-market funding structures for the arts and the declining presence of smaller galleries and collectors who traditionally supported local artists, emerging practitioners with uncertain market status, and those whose artistic value remains ambiguous in terms of future trends (Milano, 2020).

Besides that, the case study of Yves Bouvier vs. Dimitri Rybolovlev is another one that highlights the role of trust within the art market. The relationship between Bouvier and Rybolovlev became one of friendship and trust since the Russian was not familiar with the art auction market or even art prices, relying on Bouvier to purchase all of his artworks. This trust between the two parties was built over time and it is assumed to be strong enough that a verbal agreement regarding the commission percentage would be sufficient.

As seen before in this study, the lack of transparency within the art auction market has contributed to the reliance on trust between sellers and buyers.² Since the transactions within the market are often conducted through auction houses which often do not disclose specific details about the transactions or the identities of buyers and sellers, which make new players that are entering the art auction market rely upon and trust established art dealers and art advisors that have been part of the market for a long time to be able to take part in the market and perceiving fewer risks within these transactions.

Nonetheless, if a market primarily relies on trust between their parties to do the transactions, it leaves too many potential loopholes for exploitation and conflicts. The case studies analyzed throughout this paper are all related to one of the parties involved in the art transactions abusing the trust that was placed in them by the other party and subsequently resulting in crimes such as art forgery, breach of contract, misrepresentation of prices, embellishment, theft, and other illegal activities.

-

² See Chapter 3

In conclusion, the Bouvier Affair brings to light aspects that are not often clearly discussed within the art market, such as the predominancy of non-verbal contracts in the art market, the use of freeports as places of storage, the possible implications for tax evasion, and the importance of trust in facilitating transactions within the art market.

Throughout all of the discussions presented in this thesis, it is evident that the lack of transparency within the art auction market contributes to the reliance on trust between sellers and buyers and that the transactions cannot be made solely on the basis of trust. Therefore, there is a need to also analyze and explore potential solutions to improve transparency and reduce information asymmetry. During the final chapter of this thesis, the focus will be on proposing strategies and recommendations to address the trust issues within the art auction market, particularly in relation to proposing solutions to stakeholders in reducing information asymmetry and increasing transparency.

Chapter 6: Conclusion

6.1 Analysis of Research Findings

The research conducted in this study yielded significant findings pertaining to art fraud. Several key themes and patterns emerged in an analysis of the available literature, case studies, and expert interviews in the field.

First, inefficiency and a lack of transparency within the art auction market are major contributing factors to instances of art fraud (David et al., 2013). The pricing strategies employed by auction houses often prove difficult for potential buyers to comprehend, creating opportunities for overpricing, underpricing, and the manipulation of artwork values (Beckert & Rössel, 2013). Employment of confidential reserves, practices such as bidding off the chandelier, and the undisclosed amount of the buyer's premium add to the ambiguity and lack of trust in the auction process (Ashenfelter & Graddy, 2003). These price mechanisms allow the auction house to artificially inflate or deflate the prices of artworks, making it easier for fraudulent activities to go undetected (Ashenfelter & Graddy, 2003).

Furthermore, research findings indicate that the international art market is particularly susceptible to art fraud because of the lack of a standardized system for verifying the authenticity and provenance of artworks. This lack of transparency and standardization allows for the circulation of counterfeit artworks and may compromise the credibility and economic value of genuine artworks.

Second, the role of provenance was identified throughout the study as a crucial aspect in the detection and prevention of art fraud. However, as presented in the research, provenance can easily be falsified or manipulated, particularly in cases where the artwork has changed hands multiple times, or where there are gaps in the documentation. Besides that, provenance also influences the market value of an artwork, with artworks that have strong and well-documented provenance being more valuable than those with questionable or incomplete history (Gramlich, 2017).

Third, the lack of specific laws and regulations regarding art fraud has been identified as a major issue in combating this crime. Although many countries have laws that criminalize fraud in general, there is often a lack of specific legislation addressing art fraud and its unique complexities. This creates challenges for law enforcement agencies as they may struggle to effectively investigate and prosecute art fraud cases. Therefore, it is difficult to quantify how many forgery and fraud cases go undetected because of the lack of suitable legal measures in place.

In addition, the interview with crime specialist Noah Charney supports all the claims that the art auction market is inefficient and that most of the players benefit from the lack of regulations of the market. Charney agrees during the interview that players are not interested in knowing about fraud since: "The art trade certainly does because it's a whole headache if something that they have traded in is fraudulent, there's embarrassment if you're an expert who authenticates something fraudulent."

The perspective of a potential buyer within the art auction market is influenced by a multitude of factors such as the artist's reputation, the rarity of the artwork, and its demand (Nguyen et al., 2018). However, when it comes to the impact of fraud on the consumer's decision to purchase the artwork or invest in the art market, its influence is surprisingly minimal compared to the gravity of the crime (Scorcu et al., 2021. Through the analysis of the research results, it was observed that while art fraud may slightly damage the reputation of the artist or artwork, it does not significantly deter buyers from engaging in the market. Additionally, the price of an artist's artwork may be affected by the discovery of fraud, but the overall tradability of the artwork remains relatively unaffected (Scorcu et al., 2021). From the buyer's perspective, the discovery of fraud may lead to a slight decrease in the price they are willing to pay for the artwork, but it does not prevent them from participating in the art market altogether.

Regarding the seller's perspective, the research findings indicate that art fraud does not have a detrimental impact on the seller's reputation and economic value. Despite the existence of art fraud, sellers in the art market are still able to maintain their reputations and economic value; in fact, the opaqueness of the market works to their benefit, as it allows them

³ See Appendix

to continue selling counterfeit artworks without serious consequences. Many times, forgeries or frauds are not even detected by the buyer, and when they are discovered, buyers often prefer not to disclose the incident or take legal action, in order to maintain the marketability of the artwork and avoid potential losses in reputation, thereby allowing the seller to continue operating in the market without facing significant repercussions.

New technologies such as blockchain and artificial intelligence in the art market have been used by some institutions and proposed as potential solutions to detect and prevent art fraud (Bhushan et al., 2021). However, the lack of transparency within the art auction market mainly affects small cultural institutions, such as museums and galleries, which often struggle to authenticate artworks and are more susceptible to purchasing fraudulent pieces, since they do not possess the resources and expertise of larger institutions (Day, 2016).

The analysis of research findings reveals several key insights into the issue of art fraud, but it is necessary to address the possibility of mitigating this problem and recommend actions to stakeholders to combat art fraud effectively. In the next section (7.2), the possible mitigations and recommendations for addressing art fraud will be further explored.

6.2 Recommendations for Stakeholders

Several improvements can be made to the authentication processes used by auction houses and regulators. The implementation of several steps in the authentication process can help to reduce the possibility of art fraud. These additional steps include further scientific examinations to assess the materials used and the age of the artwork, and employment of experts from different fields and not associated to the art institutions to assess the authenticity of the artwork.

Scientific analysis, such as spectroscopy, radiography, and other advanced techniques, should be incorporated as an intrinsic part of the authentication process, conducted in parallel with other methods like provenance research and stylistic analysis

through the creation of standardized procedures and protocols for the application of scientific methods in art authentication. These standardized protocols should be developed collaboratively, drawing from the expertise of art historians, conservators, scientists, and other relevant professionals.

In addition, it is necessary to emphasize the importance of transparency in scientific authentication processes by ensuring that all scientific analyses, findings, and methodologies used in the authentication process are thoroughly documented and made accessible to all the relevant parties. This transparency not only builds trust but also allows for peer review and inspections, further enhancing the credibility of the authentication process.

It is also fundamental for stakeholders to recognize that scientific methods in art authentication are continually evolving and that they should remain open to adopting new technologies and techniques as they emerge, ensuring that the authentication process remains dynamic and effective in the face of emerging challenges and fraudulent practices.

Connoisseurship, as the discerning evaluation of an artwork's attributes, such as style, technique, and historical context, is an invaluable tool in art authentication. Connoisseurs possess the ability to recognize the peculiarities of an artist's work, drawing upon their accumulated knowledge and experience and their role is crucial in distinguishing authentic pieces from forgeries or misattributions. While connoisseurship is essential, it should not rely solely on the opinions of a single expert because the diverse and dynamic nature of the art world necessitates a plurality of perspectives and different connoisseurs may possess varying areas of specialization or distinct knowledge of particular artists, regions, or periods.

Stakeholders should assemble a team of connoisseurs with diverse areas of expertise and by incorporating these individuals with different specializations, the authentication process becomes less susceptible to biases or limited perspectives with this diversity ensuring a comprehensive evaluation of an artwork's attributes. However, it is necessary that these connoisseurs are independent from institutional affiliations to mitigate conflicts of interest and preserve the integrity of the authentication process since institutional affiliations can introduce biases that compromise the impartiality of experts (Charney, 2015). As it was stated in the interview with art crime specialist Noah Charney, there is a need to hire specialists that are external to the institution and stakeholders must prioritize the selection of connoisseurs

who are not affiliated with institutions, such as museums, galleries or art auction houses that may have concealed interests in the outcome of authentication with this independence enhancing the credibility of the assessment and minimizing potential conflicts.

The adoption of a dual approach encompassing standardized scientific methods and the professional advice of non-affiliated connoisseurs stands as a formidable defense against the propagation of art fraud within the art auction market. By combining these approaches, stakeholders not only fortify their ability to combat art fraud but also establish a comprehensive and resilient system that boosts trust, credibility, and transparency within the art market with this cooperative strategy ultimately safeguarding the integrity of artworks, benefiting collectors, investors, and the entire art auction market.

6.3 Final Considerations

Art Fraud is a topic that has been underestimated and overlooked for a long time within the art auction market and it has caused significant damage to both buyers and sellers. It remains a complex issue that requires continuous research and resources to clarify the importance of accurate investigations and studies to inform market participants of potential risks and preventive measures that can be applied to mitigate and prevent art fraud.

Auction houses are established institutions that build their reputation by cultivating trust and discretion with their clients. However, this cultivation of discretion can inadvertently create an environment propitious for fraudulent activities and manipulation, which contributes to the lack of transparency and accountability in the art auction market. Regulators of the art auction market also play a role in behaviors that encourage art fraud such as ineffective pricing strategies and inadequate monitoring of the auction processes.

The lack of transparency within the art auction market is a problem that requires many discussions and collaborations between auction houses, regulators, and other stakeholders to be solved effectively and efficiently. Since it is a type of crime that only affects specific individuals and organizations within the art market, there is not much societal impact that would prompt immediate actions from governments or law agencies. Through the

incentivization of research and policies that promote transparency and accountability, the public can be better informed about art fraud, its repercussions, and the importance of preventing and mitigating it.

This study demonstrates that implementing effective strategies to prevent and mitigate art fraud is crucial for increasing the level of trust and integrity within the art auction market. It is evident that the actual market is full of information asymmetries and uncertainties, with buyers and sellers being unclear about the attribution, provenance, authenticity, and copyright of artworks (Colavizza, 2023). There is a trend of growth in the discussion and recognition of art fraud, especially since topics such as authenticity, provenance, and ownership have gained increased attention in recent years.

Appendix

Interview with Art Crime Specialist Noah Charney

Noah Charney is a prominent scholar and author in the field of art history and art crime, having published several books that further delve into the implications and reasons behind these crimes, such as, "The Art of Forgery: The Minds, Motives, and Methods of the Master Forgers", "Stealing the Mystic Lamb: The True Story of the World's Most Coveted Masterpiece" and "The Art of Forgery".

He is currently an Adjunct Professor at the University of Ljubljana, the founder and lecturer of ARCA, the Association for Research into Crimes against Art, Editor-in-Chief and Founder of The Journal of Art Crime, and a columnist at the Tendencias del Mercado del Arte Magazine.⁴ Through the foundation of the ARCA, Charney has facilitated international collaboration among scholars, law enforcement agencies, and art professionals, promoting a deeper understanding of the complexities surrounding art fraud.⁵

Noah Charney's expertise and contributions to the field make him an expert. His comprehensive understanding of the dynamics of art fraud, combined with his commitment to disseminating knowledge and fostering dialogue, positions him as an important figure for examining the intricate interplay between authenticity, provenance, and market forces within the art auction realm.

This interview was conducted through email, with the answers being recorded and transcribed in this appendix. It aimed to elucidate some of the complex nuances of art fraud in the art auction market, exploring its historical roots, evolving tactics, and strategies employed by experts and institutions to combat this persistent challenge. Through a multifaceted approach, the interview sought to clarify the intricate dynamics at play within the art market, ultimately contributing to a deeper comprehension of the complexities surrounding art forgery.

⁴ "Bio." Accessed September 18, 2023. https://noahcharney.smugmug.com/About-Me/Bio.

⁵ "Our Work – ARCA 2021 Website Revamp | ARCA – Association for Research into Crimes against Art." Accessed September 18, 2023. https://www.artcrimeresearch.org/our-work/.

Art fraud often involves several intricate schemes. Could you share notable cases in which fraudsters employed particularly creative or unconventional methods to deceive the market and experts?

The main criminological advance in my book is an analysis of what is called the provenance trap, which is a regularly successful method used by conmen in forgery schemes. Sometimes it is the forgery themselves and sometimes it's people working with them. There are five variations of it. One is with John Mayer and John Drew; their version of the provenance trap is John Drew forged archival material that appeared to authenticate forgeries painted by John Myatt, and he hid that archival material in real archives. So, when a forgery by John Drew was brought to an expert and they didn't find the object in question in the catalogue raisonnée of the artist who appeared to have painted it, they would go to the archives and see if other scholars had maybe missed something that they could find, and low and behold, they would find a document that no scholar had ever seen before because the document was a forgery that was inserted by John Drew and the enthusiasm of the treasure hunt on the part of the expert confirms within their mind the authenticity of the work in question, and it's a trap that's set regularly through provenance by fraudsters in order to pass off forgeries.

Provenance trap version two involves the Greenhalgh family, in which Sean Greenhalgh, the son, would make forgeries of objects that matched the descriptions from authentic provenance of lost objects; for example, an auction catalog that describes a lot that is an object that was sold at some point, a real object, but no one knows what it is or where it is now, and he would create an object that would match that description.

The third version, the case study of Eli Sakai, involves buying an authentic work along with its paperwork, the provenance that comes with it, and then having someone copy the work, making an exact duplicate of it, and selling the duplicate along with the original paperwork.

Version four involves Eric Hepburn, who is my favorite forger if I can say that. And he created what appeared to be preparatory drawings for famous paintings. And in this case, the paintings themselves acted as the provenance people knew of the paintings and knew that there were likely preparatory drawings made before the paintings were finished as part of the conceptualization phase, but those drawings are rarely kept as a work of art unto themselves, so he would create what appeared to be those lost preparatory drawings.

And the fifth version involves Han van Meegeren. He is probably the most famous forger, and this version of the provenance trap involves creating an object that appears to fulfill a theory, posited by a scholar. In his case, Abraham Bredius, the leading Vermeer scholar, posited that there was an early period of Vermeer's career in which he painted large scale religious works inspired by Caravaggio, but none of those works were extant, and so von Meegeren created works that match that description and managed to fool Abraham Bredius. We also see this, for example, in some forgeries of Natural History or objects or religious relics like the Shroud of Turin, is a famous forgery; it's a 13th century painting meant to look like a Christian relic, or the Archaeoraptor fossil is a forgery made by Chinese scientists to try to demonstrate in plastic form, the link between dinosaurs and birds.

Could you elaborate on the methods and technologies that experts employ to differentiate authentic artworks from forgeries?

Well, art is authenticated in three ways, as I described in the book: connoisseurship, forensic testing, and provenance research. Connoisseurship is the most traditional old-fashioned method that involves an expert giving their opinion and that's obviously very fallible, and you have to rely on the expert being both honest and actually knowing what they're talking about and that's difficult to determine.

Provenance research is the primary way that objects are authenticated basically looking at the archival history and seeing, has this work considered authentic for a long time and does the history we know make this work of art plausible where it was located at the subject, for example, is it referred to an archival material.

And then the third version is forensic testing, and forensic testing is very rarely turned to, usually only when provenance and connoisseurship cannot determine or there's arguments among experts and conservators do this testing, and it usually involves looking at objects with different light spectrum or things like Carbon-14 testing that can give the estimated age of organic materials and it's good at spotting anachronisms; it's very bad at saying this is from exactly this date or this is by this artist's hand. It can rarely do that, but what it's good at is spotting something anachronistic that like postdates when the work should have been made, this could be like titanium white was found in Wolfgang Beltracchi's forgeries, and that was a type of paint that hadn't been invented when the forgeries had supposedly been made when the original works that they were trying to imitate had been made.

In a complex market, such as the art auction market, what factors make it susceptible to various forms of fraud, and how do these factors interplay?

There are a lot of them. You know, the basic overarching one is the art industry profits only when objects are sold, and the objects are not problematic. So, whether it's conscious or subconscious, the art trade always wants every interesting object to be legitimate. As in not stolen or looted and not a forgery. There's very little proactive criminality, but what happens a lot, I think, is that people in the art trade will have what I call non-malevolent wishful thinking. That is to say, that they see an object that looks great, and they are looking into the object in the hope that it's legitimate and so they will have a tendency to ignore evidence to the contrary and look for evidence that supports their hypothesis bias that 'I hope this is well authentic, because then everybody's going to profit'. So that's the overarching, you know, reason why the art market is susceptible to fraud.

Provenance, often regarded as the backbone of authentication, can be fabricated or manipulated. Do you think that new technological improvements (such as blockchain) revolutionize the way we establish and verify provenance in the art auction market?

Yes, I think this is a good thing. I have a book coming out about NFT's in art, and I think blockchain is going to be a very helpful thing, especially for digital art, but it can also be used for traditional in real life art. Provenance research it's important to understand that the art market will be looking for reasons to sell something when they do their own provenance research, so the best way to get around this is actually has little to do with technology, although that can be helpful in making sure that provenance is transparent, and available and unalterable. That's where a blockchain provenance could be helpful. But what it really comes down to is there should be a field, and this exists but barely, and this is something where certainly people could fill this out, where there are independent objective companies that will look into the research, will research provenance of objects that and these companies cannot have any connection to the art market or the owner of the object. So, they're just objectively saying, 'Does the provenance that accompanies this object match the object?'. So, it's not describing something else and was attached to this object and is the provenance authentic itself, because sometimes people might say: 'Okay. Let's say that this was shown in 1872 in this museum' and then, in fact, it wasn't but, nobody bothers to check, so they add it to the documentation. So, that's probably the single most helpful thing.

Can you shed light on how different stakeholders in the art market perceive the risk of fraud such as buyers, sellers, auction houses, collectors, and dealers? How do these perceptions vary and what factors contribute to these variations?

I think one of the problems is that nobody wants to know about fraud. They all want to go in and say: 'I'm sure this is fine.' The art trade certainly does because it's a whole headache if something that they have traded in is fraudulent, there's embarrassment if you're an expert who authenticates something fraudulent. And if you find out that something's fraudulent before you sell it, well, you don't get the sale, so you're not making any money. Usually, it's buyers, collectors, museums, the ultimate end stop for the object in question who will flag something if they get suspicious about it after having acquired it and usually get,

they get angry that they were sold something that isn't what they thought it was, and then they launched an investigation themselves. So, they're the ones who are the victims in the end; they're the ones getting upset when they find out about it. But you know if nobody knows, then everybody's happy. So, the value of art equals the perceived authenticity plus the perceived demand plus the perceived rarity. It's all about perception. So, everybody except the buyer is hoping that every object is authentic. The buyer is also hoping the object is authentic; but, if they get suspicious, they're the ones who are the victims and they're the ones who are going to get upset.

Do you have any suggestions on what strategies auction houses can adopt to provide buyers and sellers with more information about the artworks and the transaction process?

Well, they still try to do this. The more provenance they have for an object before it sells, the more money they're going to get for it and the more reassured the public is going to be. I'm not sure what more they can do because they're already doing a lot. I think the best option would be if there is a new habit of also hiring an external company, who is ideally not being paid by the auction house or gallery, because then they're going to have an incentive to not find anything problematic. I'm not sure who would be paying them in the end, but some objective, independent firm that should double check the provenance so that we know that the provenance, which is usually gathered by the selling party, is authentic.

Considering fraudsters' evolving tactics, are there actions taken by art auction houses to adapt their strategies to stay ahead of potential fraud? Are there instances where the effectiveness of these strategies has been proven or where improvements are still needed?

Not really, Sotheby's, for example, hired Orion Analytics, which is basically one guy who does forensic testing of objects to give the impression that they're taking it seriously, and that everything that is sold through them is being checked, but of course in practice he's just

one guy with a small firm that they hired and he's maybe checking hundreds of objects, but they're selling thousands of them, but they're trying to make it seem to the public like they're taking it seriously, in fact, I don't think the art trade really cares as long as they are profiting through selling objects. So, they're just hoping that everything they sell is legitimate, and if it's sold through one of these companies, buyers are assuming that they've checked and that the object is legitimate, and that's where we can get into problems.

Bibliography

A Network Bidder Behavior Model in Online Auctions: A Case of Fine Art Auctions—
ScienceDirect. (n.d.). Retrieved April 7, 2023, from
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0022435914000591

Accent Delight Int'l Ltd. V. Sotheby's & Sotheby's Inc., 18-CV-9011 (JMF) / Casetext Search + Citator. (n.d.). Retrieved August 22, 2023, from https://casetext.com/case/accent-delight-intl-ltd-v-sothebys-sothebys-inc

Akhavan, K. E. (2012). Artfully Deferring Taxes. Probate and Property, 26, 59.

Alder, C., Chappell, D., & Polk, K. (2011). Frauds and fakes in the Australian aboriginal art market. *Crime, Law and Social Change*, 56(2), 189–207. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10611-011-9319-0

Alfred Flechtheim – Alfred Flechtheim. (n.d.). Retrieved April 29, 2023, from http://alfredflechtheim.com/en/alfred-flechtheim/

Amineddoleh, L. (2015). Purchasing Art in a Market Full of Forgeries: Risks and Legal Remedies for Buyers (SSRN Scholarly Paper 2668650). https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=2668650

Amore, A. M. (2015). The Art of the Con: The Most Notorious Fakes, Frauds, and Forgeries in the Art World. St. Martin's Publishing Group.

Art crime in Australia: A market analysis. Paper presented at the Annual Australian and New Zealand Society—Criminology Conference, Gold Coast, Queensland, July 10, 1998. / www.icom.museum. (n.d.). Retrieved July 28, 2023, from https://www.obs-traffic.museum/art-crime-australia-market-analysis-paper-presented-annual-australian-and-new-zealand-society

Art Monthly: Article: Unreliable Evidence – Francis Frascina on countering histories. (n.d.).

Retrieved August 1, 2023, from https://www.artmonthly.co.uk/magazine/site/article/unreliable-evidence-by-francis-frascina-dec-jan-14-15

Article 1130—Code civil—Légifrance. (n.d.). Retrieved July 26, 2023, from https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/codes/article_lc/LEGIARTI000032040901/

Ashenfelter, O., & Graddy, K. (2003). Auctions and the Price of Art. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 41(3), 763–787.

Ashenfelter, O., & Graddy, K. (2006). Chapter 26 Art Auctions. In *Handbook of the Economics of Art and Culture* (Vol. 1, pp. 909–945). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1574-0676(06)01026-X

Aton, F. (2023, August 9). Leonardo da Vinci's \$450 M. Salvator Mundi Painting Gets the NFT Treatment. *ARTnews.Com*. https://www.artnews.com/art-news/news/leonardo-salvator-mundi-nft-bridgeman-images-1234676724/

Bakare, L., Arts, L. B., & correspondent, culture. (2021, January 29). Bouvier affair: Swiss prosecutors to close legal dispute over art. *The Guardian*. https://www.theguardian.com/artanddesign/2021/jan/29/bouvier-affair-swiss-prosecutors-to-close-legal-dispute-over-art

Bambic, A. (2015). What Do Art Dealers Do / Widewalls. https://www.widewalls.ch/magazine/what-do-art-dealers-do-explained

Bandle, A. L. (2015). Fake or Fortune? Art Authentication Rules in the Art Market and at Court. *International Journal of Cultural Property*, 22(2–3), 379–399. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0940739115000107 Banning, S. A., & Schoen, M. (2007). Maximizing public relations with the organization—public relationship scale: Measuring a public's perception of an art museum. *Public Relations Review*, *33*(4), 437–439. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2007.08.001

Beckert, J., & Rössel, J. (2013). The Price of Art. *European Societies*, *15*(2), 178–195. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616696.2013.767923

Beggs, A., & Graddy, K. (2009). Anchoring Effects: Evidence from Art Auctions. *American Economic Review*, 99(3), 1027–1039. https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.99.3.1027

Bernales, A., Reus, L., & Valdenegro, V. (2022). Speculative bubbles under supply constraints, background risk and investment fraud in the art market. *Journal of Corporate Finance*, 77, 101746. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcorpfin.2020.101746

Best Documentary (Director). (2021). *Wolfgang Beltracchi, the greatest art forger*. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-YH-E9tLO6Q

Bhushan, B., Sinha, P., Sagayam, K. M., & J, A. (2021). Untangling blockchain technology: A survey on state of the art, security threats, privacy services, applications and future research directions. *Computers* & *Electrical Engineering*, 90, 106897. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compeleceng.2020.106897

Bialynicka-Birula, J. (2021). *Investment in Art—Specificity, Risks, and Rates of Return* (SSRN Scholarly Paper 3840724). https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3840724

Big Bucks: The Explosion of the Art Market in the 21st Century—Ms Georgina Adam—Google Books. (n.d.). Retrieved April 13, 2023, from <a href="https://books.google.it/books?hl=en&lr=&id=FdsRBAAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PT8&dq=Wall+Streeting+art:+The+construction+of+artwork+as+an+alternative+investment+and+the+strange+rules+of+the+art+market&ots=5Y4CiJSvJL&sig=bKIobOWwufUFddlvZ_uAOjI8ZNQ&r

edir_esc=y#v=onepage&q&f=false

Blasco, N., Corredor, P., & Ferreruela, S. (2012). Market sentiment: A key factor of investors' imitative behaviour. *Accounting & Finance*, 52(3), 663–689. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-629X.2011.00412.x

Bocart, F., & Oosterlinck, K. (2011). Discoveries of fakes: Their impact on the art market. *Economics Letters*, 113(2), 124–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econlet.2011.06.013

Branch, L. S. (2006, March 22). Consolidated federal laws of Canada, Canadian Cultural Property Export Control List. https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/regulations/C.R.C., c. 448/page-6.html#h-556919

Branch, L. S. (2021, June 28). *Consolidated federal laws of Canada, Trademarks Act.* https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/t-13/page-1.html#h-450124

Branch, L. S. (2023, June 22). *Consolidated federal laws of Canada, Criminal Code*. https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/c-46/section-366.html

Bregman, A. (2019). *The Bouvier Affair: A True Story*. BOOKBABY. https://books.google.it/books?id=hY5lxAEACAAJ

Brinkhof, T. (2022, September 30). Was the mysterious, \$450-million "Salvator Mundi" really painted by Leonardo da Vinci? *Big Think*. https://bigthink.com/high-culture/salvator-mundi-leonardo-da-vinci/

Brodie, N. (2019). The 'Art World' of the Auction Houses: The Role of Professional Experts. *Arts*, 8(2), Article 2. https://doi.org/10.3390/arts8020056

Carrigan, M. (2018). Russian billionaire Rybolovlev sues Sotheby's for \$380m in fraud damages. https://www.theartnewspaper.com/2018/10/03/russian-billionaire-rybolovlev-sues-sothebys-for-dollar380m-in-fraud-damages

Case Study 3: A Perspective from the Fakery Frontline—An Interview with an Art Forger |

SpringerLink. (n.d.). Retrieved April 13, 2023, from

https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1057/978-1-137-54405-6_18

Chappell, D., & Hufnagel, S. (2019). Art Crime: Exposing a Panoply of Theft, Fraud and Plunder. In S. Hufnagel & D. Chappell (Eds.), *The Palgrave Handbook on Art Crime* (pp. 3–32). Palgrave Macmillan UK. https://doi.org/10.1057/978-1-137-54405-6_1

Chapter 10: Preventing art forgery and fraud through emerging technology: Application of a regulatory pluralism model in: Research Handbook on Art and Law. (n.d.). Retrieved July 28, 2023,

https://www.elgaronline.com/display/edcoll/9781788971461/9781788971461.00021.xml

Chapter 11—Bankruptcy Basics / United States Courts. (n.d.). Retrieved August 16, 2023, from https://www.uscourts.gov/services-forms/bankruptcy-basics/chapter-11-bankruptcy-basics

Charney, N. (2015). The Art of Forgery: The Minds, Motives and Methods of Master Forgers (1st edition). Phaidon Press.

Charney, N. (Ed.). (2016). *Art Crime*. Palgrave Macmillan UK. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-137-40757-3

Charney, N. (2019). Profiling Art Forgers. In S. Hufnagel & D. Chappell (Eds.), *The Palgrave Handbook on Art Crime* (pp. 289–299). Palgrave Macmillan UK. https://doi.org/10.1057/978-1-137-54405-6_14

Cheong, M. F. (2021). Art Fraud and Market Failure in the Art Market: A Need for Multiple Approaches (SSRN Scholarly Paper 3894340). https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=3894340
Chesters, L. (2023). Art market sales recover, topping pre-pandemic levels, as UK reclaims its

second place globally. https://www.antiquestradegazette.com/news/2023/art-market-sales-recover-topping-pre-pandemic-levels-as-uk-reclaims-its-second-place-globally/

Clark, J. M. (1915). The Concept of Value. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 29(4), 663–673. https://doi.org/10.2307/1883303

Colavizza, G. (2023). Seller-buyer networks in NFT art are driven by preferential ties. Frontiers in Blockchain, 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbloc.2022.1073499

Cole, S. A. (2016). Connoisseurship All the Way Down: Art Authentication, Forgery, Fingerprint Identification, Expert Knowledge. In N. Charney (Ed.), *Art Crime: Terrorists, Tomb Raiders, Forgers and Thieves* (pp. 27–32). Palgrave Macmillan UK. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-137-40757-3_3

Convention on jurisdiction and the recognition and enforcement of judgments in civil and commercial matters, DNK, CHE, NOR, EURCOM, ISL, 339 OJ L (2007). http://data.europa.eu/eli/convention/2007/712/oj/eng

Competition and Consumer Amendment (Prevention of Exploitation of Indigenous Cultural Expressions) Bill 2019 (Australia) [Text]. Retrieved August 25, 2023, from https://www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary_Business/Committees/Senate/Environment_and_Communications/IndigCulturalExpression/Report

Coslor, E. (2016). Transparency in an opaque market: Evaluative frictions between "thick" valuation and "thin" price data in the art market. *Accounting, Organizations and Society*, 50, 13–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aos.2016.03.001

Cour de Cassation, Chambre civile 1, du 7 novembre 1995, 93-11.418, Publié au bulletin.

Retrieved July 26, 2023, from https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/juri/id/JURITEXT000007034763

Cour de cassation, civile, Chambre civile 1, 3 mai 2018, 16-13.656, Publié au bulletin, Publié au bulletin ____ (Cour de cassation 2018). https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/juri/id/JURITEXT000036900252

Custodio, M. (2020, October 8). *How Much Money Do Art Dealers Actually Earn? – Mariana Custodio*. https://marianacustodio.com/how-much-money-do-art-dealers-actually-earn/

Dafoe, T. (2020, July 9). *In a Big Win for Yves Bouvier, a Monaco Judge Throws Out Dmitry Rybolovlev's Charges Against the Swiss Art Dealer*. Artnet News. https://news.artnet.com/art-world/yves-bouvier-lawsuit-dismissed-monaco-rybolovlev-1893375

David, G., Oosterlinck, K., & Szafarz, A. (2013). Art market inefficiency. *Economics Letters*, 121(1), 23–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econlet.2013.06.033

Davies, C. (2017). Criminal law and art fraud. *Criminal Law Journal*, 41. https://www.westlaw.com.au/maf/wlau/app/document?&src=search&docguid=Ib0656faaf168
1e780e4e996c86e78d6&epos=2&snippets=true&fcwh=true&startChunk=1&endChunk=1&n
stid=std-anz-

highlight&nsds=AUNZ_SEARCHALL&isTocNav=true&tocDs=AUNZ_AU_JOURNALS_T

OC&context=30&extLink=false&searchFromLinkHome=true

Day, G. (2016). Explaining the Art Market's Thefts, Frauds, and Forgeries (And Why the Art Market Does Not Seem to Care).

De Silva, D. G., Pownall, R. A. J., & Wolk, L. (2012). Does the sun 'shine' on art prices?

Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization, 82(1), 167–178.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2012.01.007

De Sole v. Knoedler Gallery, LLC, 974 F. Supp. 2d 274 | Casetext Search + Citator. (n.d.).

Retrieved April 11, 2023, from https://casetext.com/case/de-sole-v-knoedler-gallery

Detecting Art Forgeries: What Scientific Methods Can We Use? (n.d.). *FutureLearn*. Retrieved August 1, 2023, from https://www.futurelearn.com/info/blog

Filipiak, D., & Filipowska, A. (2016). Towards Data Oriented Analysis of the Art Market: Survey and Outlook. *Financial Internet Quarterly*, *12*(1), 21–31. https://doi.org/10.1515/fiqf-2016-0133

Fincham, D. (2017). Authenticating Art by Valuing Art Experts. *Mississippi Law Journal*, 86, 567.

Fincham, D. (2019). Case Study 2: The Knoedler Art Forgery Network. In S. Hufnagel & D. Chappell (Eds.), *The Palgrave Handbook on Art Crime* (pp. 343–361). Palgrave Macmillan UK. https://doi.org/10.1057/978-1-137-54405-6_17

Fine, G. A. (1983). Cheating History: The Rhetorics of Art Forgery. *Empirical Studies of the Arts*, *I*(1), 75–93.

Flynn, T. (n.d.). *The art World: Compliant Victim?* Retrieved April 24, 2023, from https://www.academia.edu/20053574/The art World Compliant Victim

Fraud detection system: A survey. (2016). *Journal of Network and Computer Applications*, 68, 90–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnca.2016.04.007

French Press. (n.d.). Singapore's highest court unfreezes assets of Swiss art dealer Yves Bouvier. Retrieved August 24, 2023, from https://artdaily.cc/news/80961/Singapore-s-highest-court-unfreezes-assets-of-Swiss-art-dealer-Yves-Bouvier

Fritzke, L. (2008). An examination of the impact of records on the value of artworks. *Records Management Journal*, 18(3), 221–235. https://doi.org/10.1108/09565690810916465

Galenson, D. W. (2005). Anticipating Artistic Success (or, How to Beat the Art Market): Lessons from History (Working Paper 11152). National Bureau of Economic Research.

https://doi.org/10.3386/w11152

Gaztambide-Fernández, R. A. (2008). The Artist in Society: Understandings, Expectations, and Curriculum Implications. *Curriculum Inquiry*, *38*(3), 233–265.

Gramlich, J. (2017). Reflections on Provenance Research: Values – Politics – Art Markets. *Journal for Art Market Studies*, 1(2), Article 2. https://doi.org/10.23690/jams.v1i2.15

Grant, D. (n.d.). Hobby Lobby sues Christie's for selling it an antiquity authorities say was looted.

Grau-Pantureac, M. (2023). The importance of contracts in business relationship.

Competitiveness and Innovation in the Knowledge Economy, 471–476.

https://doi.org/10.53486/cike2022.55

Graycar, A. (n.d.). In crime and criminal justice.

Gupta, A. (2005). I'll Be Your Mirror—Contemporary Art and the Role of Style in Copyright Infringement Analysis. *University of Dayton Law Review*, *31*, 45.

Haslach, M. (2014). Consignment Catastrophes: Lessons from New York's Art Gallery Fraud. Washington Journal of Law, Technology & Arts, 10(2), 125.

Heath, C. (Ed.). (2012a). Auctions: Institutional Form and Interactional Organisation. In *The Dynamics of Auction: Social Interaction and the Sale of Fine Art and Antiques* (pp. 1–26). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139024020.003

Heath, C. (Ed.). (2012b). Bidding and the Pursuit of Bids. In *The Dynamics of Auction: Social Interaction and the Sale of Fine Art and Antiques* (pp. 108–139). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139024020.007

Heath, C. (Ed.). (2012c). Embodied Action and the Order of Markets. In *The Dynamics of Auction: Social Interaction and the Sale of Fine Art and Antiques* (pp. 200–220). Cambridge

University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139024020.010

Heath, C. (Ed.). (2012d). Establishing Competition: Creating an Impression of Demand. In *The Dynamics of Auction: Social Interaction and the Sale of Fine Art and Antiques* (pp. 78–107). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139024020.006

Heath, C. (Ed.). (2012e). On the Strike of the Hammer. In *The Dynamics of Auction: Social Interaction and the Sale of Fine Art and Antiques* (pp. 168–199). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139024020.009

Heath, C. (Ed.). (2012f). Orders of Bidding. In *The Dynamics of Auction: Social Interaction* and the Sale of Fine Art and Antiques (pp. 27–55). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139024020.004

Heath, C. (Ed.). (2012g). Remote Presence and Online Participation. In *The Dynamics of Auction: Social Interaction and the Sale of Fine Art and Antiques* (pp. 140–167). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139024020.008

Heath, C. (2012h). *The Dynamics of Auction: Social Interaction and the Sale of Fine Art and Antiques*. Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139024020

Heath, C. (Ed.). (2012i). Trust and the Integrity of Bids. In *The Dynamics of Auction: Social Interaction and the Sale of Fine Art and Antiques* (pp. 56–77). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139024020.005

Heritage, C. (2019, July 30). *Literature review on the Canadian art market and the socio-economic conditions of the visual arts market*. https://www.canada.ca/en/canadian-heritage/services/copyright-policy-publications/literature-review-visual-art-market.html

Hill, C. (2008). Art crime and the Wealth of Nations. *Journal of Financial Crime*, *15*(4), 444–448. https://doi.org/10.1108/13590790810907263

Hobby Lobby Stores, Inc. V. Christie's Inc., 535 F. Supp. 3d 113 | Casetext Search + Citator. (n.d.). Retrieved April 20, 2023, from https://casetext.com/case/hobby-lobby-stores-inc-v-christies-inc

Hufnagel, S. (2019). Case Study 1: Beltracchi and the History of Art Fraud in Germany. In S. Hufnagel & D. Chappell (Eds.), *The Palgrave Handbook on Art Crime* (pp. 321–342). Palgrave Macmillan UK. https://doi.org/10.1057/978-1-137-54405-6_16

Hufnagel, S., & Chappell, D. (2019). The Palgrave Handbook on Art Crime. Springer.

Intellectual Property Rights in Canada: Overview. (n.d.). Practical Law. Retrieved August 25,

2023, from http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/6-505-4626?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&firstPage=true

Intelligence, A. A. &. (n.d.). *Art Auction Market Size, Share, Trends, and Forecast* 2024 / *Market Research Report by Arizton*. Arizton Advisory & Intelligence. Retrieved September 18, 2023, from https://www.arizton.com/market-reports/art-auction-market

Interpol. (2022). ASSESSING CRIMES AGAINST CULTURAL PROPERTY 2021, SURVEY OF INTERPOL MEMBER COUNTRIES (p. 31). Interpol. https://www.interpol.int/content/download/19025/file/Assessement%20Crime%20against%20 cultural%20property%202021 Brochure-EN.pdf

"It's about setting the record straight": A Warhol of disputed authenticity and chequered association heads to auction. (2022, September 12). The Art Newspaper - International Art News and Events. https://www.theartnewspaper.com/2022/09/12/a-warhol-of-disputed-authenticity-and-chequered-association-heads-to-auction

Jingtian & Gongcheng - Angell Xi. (2019, March 13). *Art Law in China*. Lexology. https://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=825342ec-3c73-4070-8cd4-fdb83396d845

Jurevičienė, D., & Savičenko, J. (2011). Trends of investments in art. *Ekonomika Ir Vadyba*, 16, 1115–1123.

Kennedy, R. (2005). *Is This a Real Jackson Pollock?* https://www.nytimes.com/2005/05/29/arts/design/is-this-a-real-jackson-pollock.html

Kent, N. dos S., CNN |. Lauren. (2021, May 30). \$1B feud involving Leonardo's "Salvator Mundi" reveals dark side of the art world. CNN. https://www.cnn.com/style/article/salvator-mundi-scandal-bouvier-rybolovlev-intl/index.html

Kerr, J. (2016). The art of risk management: The crucial role of the global art insurance industry in enabling risk and security. *Journal of Risk Research*, 19(3), 331–346. https://doi.org/10.1080/13669877.2014.971337

Kinsella, E. (2011, April 1). The Trouble With Warhol. *ARTnews.Com*. https://www.artnews.com/art-news/market/the-trouble-with-warhol-389/

Kinsella, E. (2022, July 29). *In a Surprise Move, a Swiss Court Is Reopening an Investigation Into Swiss Billionaire Yves Bouvier at the Behest of His Nemesis, Dmitry Rybolovlev*. Artnet News. https://news.artnet.com/art-world/surprise-geneva-court-investigation-yves-bouvier-2153827

Knight, S. (2016). *The Art-World Insider Who Went Too Far*. https://www.newyorker.com/magazine/2016/02/08/the-bouvier-affair

Lacy, G. (2011). Standardizing Warhol: Antitrust Liability for Denying the Authenticity of Artwork. Washington Journal of Law, Technology & Arts, 6(3), 185.

Leach, H. L.-J., Winter, H., & Livanes, S. (2015, September 15). *Bouvier and the billionaire* – Singapore Court of Appeal sets aside Mareva injunctions over assets of Swiss art dealer.

Lexology. https://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=cdbd546f-026e-4fd3-b771-

ae5b75c0ac31

Levin, G. (2011). The Extraordinary Interventions of Alfonso Ossorio, Patron and Collector of Jackson Pollock and Lee Krasner. *Archives of American Art Journal*, 50(1/2), 4–19. https://doi.org/10.1086/aaa.50.1_2.23025819

Li, H., & Xue, W. (2021). A Blockchain-Based Sealed-Bid e-Auction Scheme with Smart Contract and Zero-Knowledge Proof. *Security and Communication Networks*, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/5523394

Liang, P.-H., & Chi, Y.-P. (2021). Influence of Perceived Risk of Blockchain Art Trading on User Attitude and Behavioral Intention. *Sustainability*, *13*(23), Article 23. https://doi.org/10.3390/su132313470

Louargand, M. A., & McDaniel, J. R. (1991). Price Efficiency in the Art Auction Market. *Journal of Cultural Economics*, 15(2), 53–65.

Lundberg, D. G., Tommy D. Andersson, John Armbrecht, Erik. (2017). Definitions and meanings of value. In *The Value of Events*. Routledge.

Mackenzie, S. and Yates, D. (2016), 'What is Grey about the "Grey Market" in Antiquities', in Beckert, J. and Dewey, M. (eds), The Architecture of Illegal Markets: Towards an Economic Sociology of Illegality in the Economy (Oxford: Oxford University Press). «Trafficking Culture. (n.d.). Retrieved April 24, 2023, from https://traffickingculture.org/publications/what-is-grey-about-the-grey-market-in-antiquities/

Majadi, N., Trevathan, J., & Bergmann, N. (2016). Analysis on Bidding Behaviours for Detecting Shill Bidders in Online Auctions. 2016 IEEE International Conference on Computer and Information Technology (CIT), 383–390. https://doi.org/10.1109/CIT.2016.48

Mareva injunction. (n.d.). Sewell & Kettle Lawyers. Retrieved August 24, 2023, from

https://sklaw.au/dictionary/mareva-injunction/

Masterworks. (2022, December 19). The 10 Most Expensive Paintings Ever Sold.

Masterworks.

https://insights.masterworks.com/art/the-10-most-expensive-paintings-ever-sold/

Mazurek, S. K. (2019). The Invisible Crime: Exploring How Perceptions of Victimhood and the Art Market May Influence Art Fraud Reporting. *International Journal of Cultural Property*, 26(4), 413–436. https://doi.org/10.1017/S094073911900033X

McAndrew, C. (n.d.). *The Art Market 2023-A report by Art Basel & UBS* (p. 260). Art Basel & UBS.

McNulty, T. (2006). Art Market Research: A Guide to Methods and Sources. McFarland & Company, Publishers.

Merrett, L. (2009). Article 23 of the Brussels I Regulation: A Comprehensive Code for Jurisdiction Agreements? *The International and Comparative Law Quarterly*, 58(3), 545–564.

Milano, R. (2020). Economic Freedom and Inequality in the Art Market: The Case of the Commercial Gallery. *Arts*, 9(4), Article 4. https://doi.org/10.3390/arts9040126

Miller. (2017). What Geneva's Art King Lost in Battle With Russian Billionaire. https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2017-02-07/geneva-free-ports-king-mulls-art-fight-s-nearly-1-billion-toll

Montias, J. M. (2002a). Introduction. In *Art at Auction in 17th Century Amsterdam* (pp. 11–14). Amsterdam University Press. https://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt45kd6h.7

Montias, J. M. (2002b). The Wealth of Buyers. In *Art at Auction in 17th Century Amsterdam* (pp. 52–56). Amsterdam University Press. https://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt45kd6h.13

Moulin, R., & Yeoman, J. (2011). The Genesis of the Rarity of Art. Art in Translation, 3(4),

441–471. https://doi.org/10.2752/175613111X13099647164266

Nelson, J., & Nelson, A. (2013). The Crime That Pays: The Canadian Print Media's Construction of Art Fraud, 1978-2012. *Journal of Art Crime*, 10, 3.

Nelson, J., & Nelson, A. (2016). Snarkhunting and the Canadian Art Fraud Legal Toolbox. *Journal of Art Crime*, 16, 25.

Newman, G. E., & Bloom, P. (2012). Art and authenticity: The importance of originals in judgments of value. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, *141*, 558–569. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0026035

Nguyen, H.-K. T., Vuong, Q.-H., Tran, K. C., & Ho, M.-T. (2018). "Paintings Can Be Forged, But Not Feeling": Vietnamese Art—Market, Fraud, and Value. *Arts*, 7(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/arts7040062

Océane. (2023, January 1). What Does an Art Advisor Do? The Art Advisory Process Explained in 2023. Artelier. https://www.artelier.com/post/what-does-an-art-advisor-do-the-art-advisory-process-explained

O'Hara, F. (2015). *Jackson Pollock*. Pickle Partners Publishing.

Oliveri, V., Porter, G., Davies, C., & James, P. (2022). Art crime: The challenges of provenance, law and ethics. *Museum Management and Curatorship*, *37*(2), 179–195. https://doi.org/10.1080/09647775.2022.2052160

Panero, J. (2008). The Fall of Gallerist Larry Salander—New York Magazine—Nymag. https://nymag.com/news/features/45324/

Participation, E. (n.d.). *Fraud Act 2006* [Text]. Statute Law Database. Retrieved August 26, 2023, from https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/35/section/6

Pavia, L., Grima, S., Romanova, I., & Spiteri, J. V. (2021). Fine Art Insurance Policies and

Risk Perceptions: The Case of Malta. *Journal of Risk and Financial Management*, 14(2), Article 2. https://doi.org/10.3390/jrfm14020066

Pilkington, E. (2009, March 26). New York art dealer charged in \$88m scheme. *The Guardian*. https://www.theguardian.com/artanddesign/2009/mar/26/lawrence-salander-art-fraud-new-york

Polatkan, G., Jafarpour, S., Brasoveanu, A., Hughes, S., & Daubechies, I. (2009). Detection of forgery in paintings using supervised learning. 2009 16th IEEE International Conference on Image Processing (ICIP), 2921–2924. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICIP.2009.5413338

Polk, K., & Chappell, D. (2019). Examining Art Fraud. In S. Hufnagel & D. Chappell (Eds.), *The Palgrave Handbook on Art Crime* (pp. 301–320). Palgrave Macmillan UK. https://doi.org/10.1057/978-1-137-54405-6_15

Pollard, V., & Wilson, E. (2014). The "Entrepreneurial Mindset" in Creative and Performing Arts Higher Education in Australia. *Artivate: A Journal of Entrepreneurship in the Arts*, 3(1), Article 1.

Press, H. O., The Associated. (2010, October 25). *The art world's Bernie Madoff, and his deceptions*. StamfordAdvocate. https://www.stamfordadvocate.com/local/article/The-art-world-s-Bernie-Madoff-and-his-deceptions-721757.php

Ragai, J. (2013). The Scientific Detection of Forgery in Paintings. *Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society*, 157(2), 164–175.

Rampley, M. (2005). Art History and Cultural Difference: Alfred Gell's Anthropology of Art. *Art History*, 28(4), 524–551. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8365.2005.00475.x

Rengers, M., & Velthuis, O. (2002). Determinants of Prices for Contemporary Art in Dutch Galleries, 1992–1998. *Journal of Cultural Economics*, 26(1), 1–28.

https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1013385830304

Renz, L. (2003). An Overview of Revenue Streams for Nonprofit Arts Organizations.

Grantmakers in the Arts. https://www.giarts.org/article/overview-revenue-streams-nonprofit-arts-organizations

Ricci, B. (2020, April 17). Art Forgers Who Duped The World. *Artland Magazine*. https://magazine.artland.com/the-art-of-forgery-art-forgers-duped-world/

Rotes Bild mit Pferden Painting. (n.d.). Saatchi Art. Retrieved July 22, 2023, from https://www.saatchiart.com/art/Painting-Rotes-Bild-mit-Pferden/889348/3031471/view

Runhovde, S. R. (2020). Risking Munch. The art of balancing accessibility and security in museums. *Journal of Risk Research*. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/13669877.2020.1801810

Runhovde, S. R. (2021). In the Dark, All Art Dealers Are Grey: Discretion and Rationalisation in the Munch Art Market. *International Journal for Crime, Justice and Social Democracy*, 10(2), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.5204/ijcjsd.1619

Sakka, M. A., Defude, B., & Tellez, J. (2010). Document Provenance in the Cloud: Constraints and Challenges. In F. A. Aagesen & S. J. Knapskog (Eds.), *Networked Services and Applications—Engineering, Control and Management* (pp. 107–117). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-13971-0_11

Schachter, K. (2019). Where In the World Is 'Salvator Mundi'? Kenny Schachter Reveals the Location of the Lost \$450 Million Leonardo. https://news.artnet.com/opinion/kenny-schachteron-the-missing-salvator-mundi-1565674

Scorcu, A. E., Vici, L., & Zanola, R. (2021). To fake or not to fake: An empirical investigation on the fine art market. *Journal of Cultural Economics*, 45(1), 143–152.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10824-020-09394-0

Sedlmeir, J., Lautenschlager, J., Fridgen, G., & Urbach, N. (2022). The transparency challenge of blockchain in organizations. *Electronic Markets*, *32*(3), 1779–1794. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12525-022-00536-0

Shiner, L. (1994). "Primitive Fakes," "Tourist Art," and the Ideology of Authenticity. *The Journal of Aesthetics and Art Criticism*, 52(2), 225–234. https://doi.org/10.2307/431169

Shrimali, B. (2021). Blockchain state-of-the-art: Architecture, use cases, consensus, challenges and opportunities—ScienceDirect.

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S131915782100207X

Sloggett, R. (2019). Unmasking Art Forgery: Scientific Approaches. In S. Hufnagel & D. Chappell (Eds.), *The Palgrave Handbook on Art Crime* (pp. 381–406). Palgrave Macmillan UK. https://doi.org/10.1057/978-1-137-54405-6_19

Smolicz, J. (1981). Core values and cultural identity. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, *4*(1), 75–90. https://doi.org/10.1080/01419870.1981.9993325

Stublić, H., Bilogrivić, M., & Zlodi, G. (2023). Blockchain and NFTs in the Cultural Heritage Domain: A Review of Current Research Topics. *Heritage*, *6*(4), Article 4. https://doi.org/10.3390/heritage6040202

Studies, A. I. of A. and T. S. I. (2022, August 8). *Art and authenticity*. Australian Institute of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Studies. https://aiatsis.gov.au/explore/art-and-authenticity

Tan, H., & Dang, R. (2022). Review of lighting deterioration, lighting quality, and lighting energy saving for paintings in museums. *Building and Environment*, 208, 108608. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2021.108608 Taylor Swain, L. (2009). Simon-Whelan v. The Andy Warhol Foundation For The Visual Arts, Inc. Et al, No. 1:2007cv06423—Document 34 (S.D.N.Y. 2009). Justia Law. https://law.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/new-

york/nysdce/1:2007cv06423/310072/34/

The Antitrust Laws / Federal Trade Commission. (n.d.). Retrieved August 18, 2023, from https://www.ftc.gov/advice-guidance/competition-guidance/guide-antitrust-laws/antitrust-laws/
The global art market grew to \$67.8 billion in 2022, exceeding pre-pandemic leve. (n.d.). Art Basel. Retrieved April 17, 2023, from https://www.artbasel.com/stories/key-findings-art-market-report-2023

The Greats by Wolfgang Beltracchi / NFT Feed. (n.d.). NFT Feed | NFT Market Analytics, Upcoming Projects & Top NFT Sales. Retrieved April 18, 2023, from https://nftfeed.app/ethereum/projects/the-greats

The men at Emmaus—Museum Boijmans Van Beuningen. (n.d.). Retrieved September 25, 2023, from https://www.boijmans.nl/en/collection/artworks/101464/the-men-at-emmaus

Towse, R. (2006). Copyright and Artists: A View from Cultural Economics. *Journal of Economic Surveys*, 20(4), 567–585. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6419.2006.00256.x

Tummers, A., & Erdmann, R. G. (2022). The Eye Versus Chemistry? From Twentieth to Twenty-First Century Connoisseurship. In M. P. Colombini, I. Degano, & A. Nevin (Eds.), *Analytical Chemistry for the Study of Paintings and the Detection of Forgeries* (pp. 3–45). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86865-9_1

Warhol Foundation Accused of Defacing Art. (n.d.). Retrieved August 8, 2023, from https://www.courthousenews.com/warhol-foundation-accused-of-defacing-art/

Widewalls. (2022). Controversial and Unsigned Andy Warhol Painting Heads to Auction Next

Month. https://www.widewalls.ch/news-feed/andy-warhol-painting-heads-auction

Yoshida, K. (2004). The Museum and the Intangible Cultural Heritage. *Museum International*, 56(1–2), 108–112. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1350-0775.2004.00464.x

Zarobell, J. (2020). Freeports and the Hidden Value of Art. *Arts*, 9(4), Article 4. https://doi.org/10.3390/arts9040117